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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and subsidiaries 
("Nasdaq" or "the Company") as of December 3 1,2004 and 2003 and the related consolidated statements of income, changes 
in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 3 1,2004. Our audits also 
included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These consolidated financial statements and 
schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements and schedule based on our audits. We did not audit the consolidated financial statements of 
Toll Associates LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary, which reflect 29.7% of consolidated total assets as of December 31,2004, 
and less than 1 .O% of consolidated gross margin for the year then ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors 
whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Toll Associates LLC, 
is based solely on the report of the other auditors. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the stkdards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits and the report of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Nasdaq and subsidiaries at December 31,2004 and 2003, 
and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
3 1,2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial 
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated fmancial statements taken as a whole, present fairly 
in all material respects the information set forth therein. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the effectiveness of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 2,2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

/dErnst & Young & LLP 

New York, NY 
March 2,2005 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Member of 
Toll Associates LLC 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Toll Associates LLC and subsidiaries (the 
"Company"), including Brut, LLC, as of December 31,2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash 
flows and member's equity for the period September 7,2004 through December 31,2004. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Company as of December 31,2004, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period 
September 7,2004 through December 31,2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 

NDeloitte & ToucheLLP 

February 28,2005 
New York, New York 
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(in thousands, except share and par value amounts) 

December 31, 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments: 

Available-for-sale, at fair d u e  
Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost 

Receivables, net 
Receivables from related parties 
Deferred tax asset 
Other current assets 

Total current assets 
Investments: 

Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost 
Property and equipment: 

Land, buildings and improvements 
Data processing equipment and software 
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Total property and equipment, net 
Non-current deferred tax asset 
Goodwill 
Intangible assets, net 
Other assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Accrued personnel costs 
Deferred revenue 
Other accrued liabilities 
Current obligation under capital lease 
Payables to related parties 

Total current liabilities 
Senior notes 
Subordinated notes 
Accrued pension costs 
Non-current deferred tax liability 
Non-current deferred revenue 
Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Stockholders' equity 
Common stock, $.01 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized, shares issued: 130,653,191 in 2004 and 130,611,221 in 2003; shares 

outstanding: 78,973,085 in 2004 and 78,483,919 in 2003 
Preferred stock, 30,000,000 shares authorized, Saies C: 1,338,402 shares issued and outstanding in 2004; Series A: 1,338,402 shares 

issued and outstanding in 2003; Series B: 1 share issued and outstanding in 2004 and 2003 
Additional paid-in capitai 
Common stock in treasury, at cost: 5 1,680,106 shares in 2004 and 52,127,302 shares in 2003 
Accumulated other comp;ehensive (loss) income 
Deferred stock compensation 
Common stock issuable 
Retained earnings 

Total stockholders' equity 
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Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 

Year Ended December 31, 

Revenues 
Market Services 
Issuer Services 
Other 

Total revenues 
Cost of revenues 

Gross margin 

Expenses 
Compensation and benefits 
Marketing and advertising 
Depreciation and amortization 
Professional and contract services 
Computer operations and data communications 
Provision for bad debts 
Occupancy 
General and administrative 

Total direct expenses 
Elimination of non-core product lines, initiatives and severance 
Nasdaq Japan impairment loss 
Support costs from related parties, net 

Total expenses 

Operating income (loss) 
Interest income 
Interest expense 

Operating income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 
(Provision) benefit for income taxes 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 

Net income (loss) 

Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders: 
Net income (loss) 
Preferred stock: 

Loss on exchange of securities 
Dividends declared 
Accretion of preferred stock 

Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders 
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Basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share: 
Continuing operations 
Discontinued operations 

Total basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity 

(in thousands, except share amounts) 

Number of Preferred Preferred Accumulated 
Common Additional Common Stock Stock Other Deferred Common 

Shares Common Paid-in Stock in Series C Series A Retained Comprehensive Stock Stock 
Outstanding Stock Capital Treasury and B and B Earnings (Loss) Income Compensation Issuable Total 

Balance, January 1, 
2002 11 1,700,285 $ 1,302 $ 348,457 $(240,000) $ 

Net income 
Change in unrealized 

losses on available- 
for-sale 
investments, net of 
tax of$l,l58 

Foreign currency 
translation, net of 
minority interests of 
$100 

Minimum pension 
liability, net of tax 
of $(l92) 

Comprehensive income 
for the year ended 
December 3 1,2002 

Purchase of common 
stock for treasury 

Issuance of preferred 
stock 

Accretion of preferred 
stock dividends 

Capital contribution 
&om NASD, net of 
distribution to 
NASD for insurance 
agency 

Adjustment of carrying 
value of Nasdaq 
Europe due to sale 
of securities to third 
Pam 

Restncted stock awards, 
net of forfeitures 

Amortization and 
vesting of restricted 
stock 

Other purchases of 
common stock by 
related parties or 
affiliated entities 

Balance, December 3 1, 
2002 78,266,708 $ 1,305 $ 358,237 $(669,454) $ - $ 133,840 

Net (loss) - - -

Change in unrealized 
losses on available- 
for-sale 
investments, net of 
tax of S(340) - - - -

Foreign currency 
translation - - -

Minimum pension 
liability, net of tax 
of $191 

Comprehensive loss for 
the year ended 
December 3 1,2003 - - - - - -
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2003 
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Preferred stock 
dividends declared - - - - - - (8,279) 

Distribution to NASD 
for insurance 

-agency - - (139) - - -
Restricted stock awards, 

net of forfeitures - - - - - - -
Amortization and 

vesting of restricted 
stock 92,300 1 1,187 (148) - - - (SO) (1,188) (198) 

Other purchases of 
common stock by 
related parties or 
affiliated entities 124,911 - (362) 1,837 - - - - - 1,475 

Balance, December 31, 
78,483,919 $ 1,306$ 358,923 $(667,765) $ - $ 133.840 $ 332,527 $ 8 6 %  (1,102)$ 2,881$160,696 

Net income 1 1,362 - - - 1 1,362 
Change in unrealized 

losses on available- 
for-sale 
investments, net of 
tax of $599 

Foreign currency 
translation 

Minimum pension 
liability, net of tax 
of $293 

Comprehensive income 
for the year ended 
December 31,2004 

Exchange of securities 
Accretion of preferred 

stock 
Preferred stock 

dividends declared 
Distribution to NASD 

for insurance 
agency

Restricted stock awards, 
net of forfeitures 

Amortization and 
vesting of restricted 
stock 

Stock options exercised 
Other purchases of 

common stock by 
related parties or 
affiliated entities 

Balance at December 
31,2004 78,973,085 $ 1,306 $ 355,943 $(662,002) $ 130,134 $ - $ 330,701 $ (1,056) $ (1,030) $ 2,567 $ 156,563 
I--------

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(in thousands) 

Year Ended December 31, 

Reconciliation of net income (loss) to cash provided by operating activities 
Net income (loss) 
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 
Non-cash items included in net income (loss): 

Depreciation and amortization 
Amortization of restricted stock awards 
Provision for bad debts 
Loss on assets held-for-sale 
Loss from equity method affiliates 
Elimination of non-core product lines and initiatives 
Nasdaq Japan impairment loss 
Deferred taxes 
Other non-cash items included in net income 

Net change in: 
Receivables, net 
Receivables from related parties 
Other current assets 
Other assets 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Accrued personnel costs 
Deferred revenue 
Other accrued liabilities 
Obligation under capital leases 
Payables to related parties 
Accrued pension costs 
Other liabilities 

Cash provided by continuing operations 
Cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations 

Cash provided by operating activities 
Cash flow from investing activities 
Proceeds from redemptions of available-for-sale investments 
Purchases of available-for-sale investments 
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity investments 
Purchases of held-to-maturity investments 
Acquisition of Toll Associates LLC 
Capital contribution to Nasdaq LIFFE joint venture 
Purchases of property and equipment 
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 

Cash used in investing activities 
Cash flow from fiancing activities 
Payments for treasury stock purchases 
(Decrease) increase in long-term debt 
Issuances of common stock 
Preferred stock dividends 
Contribution (to) from NASD 

Cash used in fiancing activities 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Flow Activities 
Cash paid for (received): 

Interest 
Income taxes, net of refund 
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Exchange of preferred securities $ (8,540) $ - % -
Payments for treasury stock purchases with issuance of preferred stock % - % - $ 124,075 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

1.Organization and Nature of Operations 

Nasdaq is a leading provider of securities listings, trading and information products and services. Nasdaq operates The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, the largest stock-based equity securities market in the United States, both in terms of number of listed 
companies and traded share volume. Nasdaq is a majority owned subsidiary of NASD. At December 3 1,2004, NASD owned 
approximately 54.7% of Nasdaq including unexpired outstanding warrants to purchase Nasdaq's common stock. At February 
15,2005, NASD's ownership decreased to 33.7% as a result of the public offering sale. See Note 23, "Subsequent Events" 
for further discussion. 

Nasdaq is the parent company of Nasdaq Global Holdings ("Nasdaq Global"); Nasdaq Financial Products Services, Inc. 
("Nasdaq Financial Products"); Nasdaq International Market Initiatives, Inc. ("NIMI"); Nasdaq Europe Planning Company, 
Limited ("Nasdaq Europe Planning"); Nasdaq International, Ltd. ('Wasdaq International"); Nasdaq Canada, Inc. ("Nasdaq 
Canada"); Nasdaq Technology Services, LLC ("Nasdaq Technology"); and as of September 7,2004, Toll Associates LLC 
("Toll"), collectively referred to as "Nasdaq." These entities are wholly-owned by Nasdaq. Nasdaq Global, which is 
incorporated in Switzerland and served as a holding company for several corporations incorporated internationally, was 
completely liquidated in 2004 and subsequently dissolved in 2005. Nasdaq also has determined to dissolve or otherwise 
wind-down Nasdaq Europe Planning, which was formed to expand Nasdaq into the European community and is currently 
inactive. NIMI is an entity that employed Nasdaq's expatriates assigned to Nasdaq's international subsidiaries. Nasdaq 
International is a London-based marketing company. Nasdaq Financial Products is the sponsor of the Nasdaq-100 Trust. 
Nasdaq Financial Product Services (Ireland) Limited ("Nasdaq Ireland") is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nasdaq Financial 
Products. In January 2005, Nasdaq Financial Products changed its name to Nasdaq Global Funds, Inc. Nasdaq Ireland is the 
manager of The Nasdaq ETF Funds plc. Nasdaq Canada is an extension of Nasdaq's North American trading platform within 
Canada, which has received regulatory approval to provide trading access in two provinces, Quebec and British Columbia. 
Nasdaq Technology is a company established in 2004 to provide software, hosting and disaster recovery services. 

On September 7,2004, Nasdaq completed its acquisition of Toll and affiliated entities from SunGard Data Systems Inc. 
("SunGard"). Toll is a holding company that owns a 99.8% interest in Brut, LLC ("Brut"), the owner and operator of the Brut 
ECN, a broker-dealer registered pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Toll also has a 100.0% interest in Brut Inc. 
("Brut Inc."), which owns the remaining 0.2% interest in Brut and serves as its manager pursuant to an operating agreement. 
Brut also owns Brut Europe Limited ("Brut Europe"), a wholly-owned subsidiary set up to generate a European subscriber 
base, which is currently inactive. See "Acquisition of Brut," of Note 3, "Significant Transactions," and Note 4, "Acquisition 
of Brut," for further discussion. 

On October 3 1,2003, Quadsan Enterprises, Inc. ("Quadsan"), previously a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nasdaq that 
provided investment management services to Nasdaq, was merged with and into Nasdaq. Prior to December 18,2003, 
Nasdaq owned a 63.0% interest in Nasdaq Europe, which had previously operated an equity market licensed in Brussels, 
Belgium. On December 18,2003, Nasdaq transferred its interest in Nasdaq Europe to a third party. Also, on September 30, 
2003, Nasdaq Global sold its 55.5% interest in IndigoMarkets to its partner SSI Limited. See "Strategic Review," of Note 3, 
"Significant Transactions," for further discussion. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Nasdaq and wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. All non-majority owned investments are 
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. 
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued) 

Financial Statement Preparation 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and the disclosure of 
contingent amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ &om those 
estimates. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. 

Segments 

Nasdaq manages, operates and provides its products and services in two business segments, our Market Services 
Segment and our Issuer Services Segment. Prior to 2003, Nasdaq operated in one segment. See Note 18, "Segments" for 
fiuther discussion. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in banks and all non-restricted highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less at the time of purchase. Such equivalent investments included in cash and cash equivalents in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets were $52.9 million and $138.8 million at December 31,2004 and 2003, respectively. Cash 
equivalents are carried at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value due to the short maturities of these 
instruments. 

Investments 

Under SFAS No. 1 15, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities," ("SFAS 115") management 
determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase. Investments for which Nasdaq does not have 
both the intent or ability to hold to maturity are classified as "available-for-sale" and are carried at fair market value, with the 
unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity. Fair value is determined 
based on quoted market prices when available, or if quoted market prices are not available, on discounted expected cash 
flows using market rates commensurate, with the credit quality and maturity of the investment. Investments for which 
Nasdaq has the intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as "held-to-maturity" and are carried at amortized cost. 
The amortized cost of debt securities classified as held-to-maturity or available-for-sale is adjusted for amortization of 
premiums and accretion of discounts, which are included in interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 
Realized gains and losses on sales of securities are included in earnings using the specific identification method. 

Nasdaq regularly monitors and evaluates the realizable value of its securities portfolio. When assessing securities for 
other-than-temporary declines in value, Nasdaq considers such factors as, among other things, the duration to which the 
market value had been less than cost, the performance of the investee's stock price in relation to the stock price of its 
competitors within the industry and the market in general, any news that has been released specific to the investee and the 
outlook for the overall industry in which the investee operates. Nasdaq also reviews the fmancial statements of the investee to 
determine if the investee is experiencing fmancial difficulties. If events and circumstances indicate that a decline in the value 
of these assets has occurred and is deemed to be other-than-temporary, the carrying value of the security is reduced to its fair 
value and the impairment is charged to earnings. As of December 3 1,2003, Nasdaq liquidated all equity securities. 

Receivables, net 

Nasdaq's receivables are concentrated with NASD member f m s ,  market data vendors and Nasdaq-listed companies. 
Receivables are shown net of reserves for uncollectible accounts. Reserves are calculated based on 



FORM 10-K Page 91 of 140 

Table of Contents 

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued) 

the age and source of the underlying receivable and are tied to past collections experience. The reserve for bad debts is 
maintained at a level that management believes to be sufficient to absorb estimated losses in the accounts receivable 
portfolio. The reserve is increased by the provision for bad debts which is charged against operating results and decreased by 
the amount of charge-offs, net of recoveries. The amount charged against operating results is based on several factors, 
including a continuous assessment of the collectibility of each account. In circumstances where a specific customer's 
inability to meet its financial obligations is known (i.e., bankruptcy filings), Nasdaq records a specific provision for bad debts 
against amounts due to reduce the receivable to the amount Nasdaq reasonably believes will be collected. For all other 
customers, provisions for bad debts are made based on the length of time the receivable is past due and historical experience. 
For receivables past due 31-60 days, 61-90 days and over 90 days, the outstanding account balances are reserved for at 
10.0%, 50.0% and 100.0% of the outstanding account balances, respectively. If circumstances change (i.e., higher than 
expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse change in a major customer's ability to pay), Nasdaq's estimates of 
recoverability could be reduced by a material amount. Total reserves netted against receivables in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets were $3.2 million and $1.7 million at December 31,2004 and 2003, respectively. 

Related Party Transactions 

Related party receivables and payables are the result of various transactions between Nasdaq and its affiliates. Payables 
to related parties are comprised primarily of the regulation charge fiom NASD. NASD charges Nasdaq for costs incurred 
related to Nasdaq market regulation and enforcement. Receivables from related parties relates to cash disbursements and 
loans funded by us on behalf of Nasdaq's affiliates. 

Deposits 

Other current assets include $2.0 million of deposits at December 3 1,2004. These deposits are for Brut and serve 
primarily for clearance and settlement services. Brut is required to hold a minimum clearing deposit with Memll Lynch 
Professional Clearing Services and the NSCC. In addition, the NSCC requires a daily minimum requirement which is based 
upon the previous days trading activity in Brut. 

Property and Equipment, net 

Property and equipment including leasehold improvements, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization. Land is recorded at cost. Equipment acquired under capital leases is recorded at the lower of fair market value 
or the present value of future lease payments. Depreciation and amortization are generally recognized over the estimated 
useful lives of the related assets. Estimated useful lives generally range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements, 
two to five years for data processing equipment and software and five to 10 years for furniture and equipment. Leasehold 
improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the remaining term of the related lease. 
Depreciation and amortization are computed by the straight-line method. Depreciation and amortization expense for property 
and equipment was $71.3 million, $8 1.9 million and $82.4 million for the years ended December 3 1,2004,2003 and 2002, 
respectively and are included in depreciation and amortization expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Property and equipment, net includes a capital lease of $6.4 million and accumulated amortization of $4.8 million at 
December 3 1,2003. Nasdaq's capital lease expired in February 2004. 

Property and equipment, net also includes an asset held-for-sale with a carrying value of $17.6 million as of December 
3 1,2004, related to an owned facility that is being actively marketed. See Note 7, "Real Estate Developments," for further 
discussion. 
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued) 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to the net tangible and 
identifiable intangible assets of a business acquired. Effective January 1,2002, as a result of the adoption of SFAS 142, 
"Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" ("SFAS 142") Nasdaq no longer amortizes goodwill. Goodwill is subject to annual 
impairment tests (during the fourth quarter) whereby goodwill is allocated to Nasdaq's reporting units (Market Services and 
Issuer Services) and an impairment is deemed to exist if the canying value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. 
For any business dispositions, goodwill is allocated to the business disposed of based on the ratio of the fair value of the 
business disposed of to the fair value of the reporting unit. 

Intangible Assets, net 

Intangible assets, net which primarily include a technology software license and customer relationships are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over their estimated average useful life of 10 years. Upon the adoption of SFAS 142, intangible assets 
deemed to have indefinite useful lives are not amortized and are subject to annual impairment tests. An impairment exists if 
the carrying value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value. For intangible assets subject to amortization, 
an impairment is recognized if the canying amount is not recoverable and the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the 
intangible asset. 

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets 

Nasdaq assesses potential impairments to its long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the canying amount of an asset may not be recovered. An impairment loss is recognized when the 
carrying amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived 
asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual 
disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of a long- 
lived asset exceeds its fair value and is recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and a charge to 
operating results. 

Nasdaq recorded write-downs for property and equipment of $7.4 million related to long-lived assets held-for-sale in the 
fourth quarter of 2004. This charge is included in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of 
Income. See Note 7, "Real Estate Developments," for further discussion. 

During the fourth quarter of 2003, Nasdaq recognized a $12.3 million impairment charge on the video wall portion of 
the MarketSite Tower at its Times Square, New York location, based on a significant adverse change in the extent and 
manner in which the Tower portion of the MarketSite was used. In earlier years, the Tower portion of the MarketSite 
generated revenues from advertising. However, in the economic downturn that followed September 1 l~and the fall in the 
technology sector, the revenues from the Tower began to decline steeply and the Tower operated at a significant net loss. 
Nasdaq's new executive management team was put in place in May 2003 and tried to find alternatives and other strategic 
uses for the video wall on the MarketSite Tower. However, in the fourth quarter of 2003, it was determined that the Tower 
would never generate the originally forecasted amounts as the modules that make up the sign are considered outdated and the 
Tower faces competition from newer advertising technology. Nasdaq obtained a quoted market price valuation from an 
independent third party and recognized the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value as an impairment charge. The 
impairment charge was included in the elimination of non-core product lines, initiatives and severance in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued) 

Revenue Recognition and Cost of Revenues 

Market Services revenues are derived fiom Nasdaq Market Center and Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions revenues. 
Nasdaq Market Center revenues are variable, based on service volumes, and recognized as transactions occur. Nasdaq Market 
Services Subscriptions revenues are based on the number of presentation devices in service and quotes delivered through 
those devices. Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions revenues are recognized in the month that information is provided. 
These revenues are recorded net of amounts due under revenue sharing arrangements with market participants. Pursuant to 
EITF 99- 19 execution revenues fiom transactions executed through Brut are recorded on a gross basis in revenues and 
expenses such as liquidity rebate payments are recorded in cost of revenues as Brut acts as principal. Nasdaq's other 
execution revenues will continue to be reported net of the liquidity rebate as Nasdaq does not act asprincipal. 

Issuer Services revenues include Corporate Client Group revenues and Nasdaq Financial Products revenues. Corporate 
Client Group revenues include annual fees, initial listing fees and listing of additional shares fees. Annual fees are recognized 
ratably over the following 12-month period. Initial listing and listing of additional shares fees are recognized on a straight- 
line basis over estimated service periods, which are six and four years, respectively, based on our historical listing 
experience. For Nasdaq Financial Products' revenues, Nasdaq receives license fees for its trademark licenses related to the 
QQQ and other financial products linked to Nasdaq indices issued in the United States and abroad. These revenues are 
recognized as earned. 

Stock Compensation 

Nasdaq accounts for stock option grants in accordance with APB 25. Nasdaq grants stock options with an exercise price 
equal to the fair market value of the stock at the date of the grant, and accordingly, recognizes no compensation expense 
related to such grants. 

In the ftrst quarter of 2003, Nasdaq adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148 "Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation-Transition and Disclosure" ("SFAS 148"). SFAS 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123. Pro 
forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share as if the fair value method had been applied in measuring 
compensation expense are provided in Note 15, "Stock Compensation and Stock Awards." 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123(R), which is a revision of SFAS 123. SFAS 123(R) supersedes APB 25 
and amends SFAS No. 95, "Statement of Cash Flows." See Future Accounting Requirements in Item 7. Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

Deferred Revenue 

Deferred revenue represents cash received and billed receivables for the Corporate Client Group, which are unearned 
until services are provided. See Note 6, "Deferred Revenue," for further discussion. 

Advertising Costs 
Nasdaq expenses advertising costs, which include media advertising and production costs, in the periods in which the 

costs are incurred. Media advertising and production costs included as marketing and advertising expense in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income totaled $6.3 million, $9.7 million and $13.4 million for the years ended December 31,2004,2003 and 
2002, respectively. 
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Software Costs 

Significant purchased application software and operational software that are an integral part of computer hardware are 
capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, generally two to seven years. All other 
purchased software is charged to expense as incurred. 

The provisions of SOP 98-1 require certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal use 
software to be capitalized. Unamortized capitalized software development costs of $53.7 million and $61.5 million as of 
December 31,2004 and 2003, respectively, are carried in data processing equipment and software in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. Amortization of costs capitalized under SOP 98-1 totaled $1 8.9 million, $15.9 million and $13.4 million for 
2004,2003 and 2002, respectively, and are included in depreciation and amortization expense in the Consolidated Statements 
of Income. Additions to capitalized software were $1 1.1 million and $6.3 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

SFAS No. 34, "Capitalization of Interest Cost" ("SFAS 34"), requires the capitalization of interest as part of the 
historical cost of acquiring assets, for all costs incurred to get the assets ready for their internal use. SOP 98-1 includes 
interest costs incurred while developing internal-use software as capitalizable costs under SFAS 34. As the effect of 
capitalization of interest cost related to the development of internal-use software is not material when compared with the 
effect of expensing these interest costs as incurred, all interest costs have been expensed. Amounts expensed were also 
considered immaterial. 

Income Taxes 

Nasdaq and its eligible subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return and all applicable state and local 
returns. Nasdaq uses the asset and liability method required by SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes", to provide 
income taxes on all transactions recorded in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and 
liabilities (i.e., temporary differences) and are measured at the enacted rates that will be in effect when these differences are 
realized. If necessary, a valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than 
not to be realized. 

Foreign Currency Translation 

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries that operate in a local currency environment are translated to U.S. dollars 
at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during 
the year. Translation adjustments resulting from this process are charged or credited to other comprehensive (loss) income. 

3. Significant Transactions 
2004 Cost Reductions 

During 2004, in connection with taking certain actions to improve its operational efficiency, Nasdaq incurred expenses 
of approximately $62.6 million. The following table summarizes the cost reduction charges included in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income: 

Year Ended 
December 31,2004 

(in millions) 
Real estate consolidation $ 29.0 
Reductions in force 9.4 
Technology migration 24.2 

Total cost reduction charges 
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Real Estate Consolidation 

During 2004, Nasdaq's management re-evaluated all of Nasdaq's owned and leased real estate and determined that 
Nasdaq could consolidate staff into fewer locations and save significant costs. In 2004, Nasdaq recorded real estate charges, 
primarily for sublease loss reserves, of $29.0 million (net of a $1.9 million reversal of a sublease reserve recorded in 2003), 
which is included in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. In 2003, Nasdaq also 
recorded real estate charges of $3.5 million. See Note 7, "Real Estate Developments," for further discussion. 

Reductions in Force 
During the year ended December 3 1,2004, 172 positions were eliminated associated with staff reduction plans and 

Nasdaq recorded a charge of $9.4 million for severance and outplacement costs, which is included in compensation and 
benefits expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Nasdaq paid approximately $4.9 million during the year ended 
December 3 1,2004 for these severance and outplacement costs fiom the 2004 staff reduction plans. Nasdaq expects to pay 
the remainder of the severance and outplacement costs by the end of the first quarter of 2006. Total headcount decreased 
from 956 employees at December 3 1,2003 to 786 employees at December 3 1,2004. 

Technology Migration 
As a result of a continued review of its technology infrastructure, Nasdaq shortened the estimated useful life of certain 

assets and changed the lease terms on certain operating leases associated with its quoting platform and its trading and quoting 
network as it migrates to lower cost operating environments which resulted in incremental depreciation and amortization 
expense. The incremental depreciation and amortization expense associated with these assets and operating leases was $18.7 
million for the year ended December 3 1,2004. 

In November 2004, Nasdaq purchased a technology platform held-for-sale and owned by Easdaq, for €1.9 million ($2.4 
million). Additionally, in order to make use of the purchased technology platform, Nasdaq purchased a license for the use of 
certain software for $0.5 million. Nasdaq has a multi-year initiative to migrate the Nasdaq Market Center applications to 
lower cost operating environments and processes. The purchased platform will provide a baseline of functionality for the 
Nasdaq Market Center. The migration will reduce Nasdaq's overall costs. As a result of the migration initiative, Nasdaq 
shortened the estimated useful life of its current application platform. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2004, Nasdaq 
recorded incremental amortization expense of $2.9 million. Nasdaq expects to record an additional $19.8 million of 
incremental amortization expense through March 2007. 

In October 2004, Nasdaq entered into an agreement for technology equipment and also renegotiated related operating 
leases with a major vendor. Nasdaq sold equipment with a net book value of $13.6 million and entered into a three year lease 
agreement which included new upgraded equipment. Nasdaq received $1 1.0 million in cash from the vendor and recognized 
a $2.6 million loss on this transaction, which is included in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. Nasdaq paid $1.6 million in 2004 and will pay $8.2 million, $0.4 million and $0.4 million in 2005, 
2006 and 2007, respectively, under the terms of the lease agreement. Nasdaq also upgraded related leased equipment and 
entered into a new three year operating lease and extended the terms of license and maintenance agreements. Under the terms 
of the operating lease and license and maintenance agreements, Nasdaq paid $1 1.2 million in 2004 and will pay $15.3 
million, $9.0 million and $2.9 million in 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. 
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Acquisition of Brut 

On September 7,2004, Nasdaq announced the completion of its acquisition of Brut, the owner of the Brut ECN and 
affiliated entities, from SunGard for a total consideration of $190.0 million in cash, subject to certain post-closing 
adjustments. See Note 1, "Organization and Nature of Operations" for further discussion of the entities acquired. Nasdaq 
financed the purchase from available cash and investments. As a result of this acquisition, Nasdaq expects that its customers 
will benefit fiom enhanced execution quality, additional quote information and a deeper pool of liquidity in Nasdaq-listed 
securities and securities listed on other exchanges. Nasdaq's customers also benefit from the ability to access liquidity from 
multiple destinations outside the Nasdaq Market Center through the use of Brut's sophisticated order routing technology. See 
Note 4, "Acquisition of Brut," for further discussion. 

In connection with the transaction, Brut and SunGard entered into a hosting and multi-year processing agreement for 
SunGard to provide real-time securities clearance and settlement system for certain Nasdaq trades. Brut also contracted with 
SunGard to host certain software on designated equipment at a SunGard facility for a transitional period. See Note 19, 
"Commitments and Contingencies," for further discussion. 

Preferred Stock 

In March 2002, Nasdaq issued 1,338,402 shares of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock and one share of Series B 
Preferred Stock. NASD owned all of the outstanding shares of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred 
Stock. The Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock carried a 7.6% dividend rate for the year commencing March 2003 and 
carried a 10.6% dividend rate in all subsequent years. The Series B Preferred Stock does not pay dividends. On September 
30,2004, NASD waived a portion of the dividend for the third quarter of 2004 of $2.5 million and accepted an aggregate 
amount of $1.0 million (calculated based on an annual rate of 3.0%) as payment in full of the dividend for this period. On 
November 29,2004, Nasdaq entered into an exchange agreement with NASD pursuant to which NASD exchanged 1,338,402 
shares of Nasdaq's Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, representing all the outstanding shares of Series A Cumulative 
Preferred Stock, for 1,338,402 shares of newly issued Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock. The Series C Cumulative 
Preferred Stock accrues quarterly dividends at an annual rate of 3.0% for all periods until July 1,2006 and at an annual rate 
of 10.6% for periods thereafter. NASD also may be entitled to an additional payment in certain circumstances which may not 
exceed approximately $16.3 million in aggregate depending on the amount of time the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock 
is outstanding and the market price of Nasdaq's common stock at the time Nasdaq redeems the Series C Cumulative 
Preferred Stock. See Note 21, "Capital Stock," for further discussion. 

Nasdaq recognized a loss of $3.9 million on the exchange of the preferred securities in retained earnings in the fourth 
quarter of 2004. This loss was due to the difference between the combined fair market value of the Series C Cumulative 
Preferred Stock and additional dividend ($137.7 million) versus the redemption value ($133.8 million). The value of the 
additional payment is reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at its estimated fair market value of $8.5 million. Changes 
in this account balance are reflected in income in the period of change. The principal amount of the Series C Cumulative 
Preferred Stock will accrete through retained earnings fiom its estimated current fair market value of $129.2 million on 
November 29,2004 to its redemption value of $133.8 million over the five consecutive quarters beginning with the fourth 
quarter of 2004. 

Strategic Review 
During the second quarter of 2003, Nasdaq announced the results of a strategic review of its operations designed to 

position Nasdaq for improved profitability and growth. This strategic review included the elimination of non-core product 
lines and initiatives and resulted in a reduction in Nasdaq's workforce. For the year ended December 3 1,2003, a total pre-tax 
charge to earnings of $145.5 million was recorded. The net impact to Nasdaq was a total pre-tax charge of $143.5 million. 
The difference represented costs absorbed by minority shareholders 
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of Nasdaq Europe. The charge recorded reflects the completion of the costs associated with Nasdaq's strategic review. As 
shown in the following table, the total charge of $145.5 million includes $97.9 million from continuing operations and $47.6 
million from discontinued operations related to Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets. See Note 5, bbDiscontinued Operations," 
for further discussion. The charge was primarily recorded to property and equipment, goodwill, intangible assets, net, other 
accrued liabilities and accrued personnel costs in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

The following table summarizes the strategic review charges included in the Consolidated Statements of Income: 

Year Ended 
December 31,2003 

Continuing Operations 
Non-Core Product Lines and Initiatives: 

Impairment of capitalized software and fued assets 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 
Contract cancellations 
Other exit costs 

Total non-core product lines and initiatives 

Severance and benefit costs 
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 

(in millions) 

Total continuing operations strategic review charge 

Discontinued Operations 
Nasdaq Europe: 

Impairment of technology platform 
Severance and benefit costs 
Impairment of goodwill 
Other exit costs including contract cancellations 

Total Nasdaq Europe 
Gain on disposition of IndigoMarkets 

Total discontinued operations strategic review charge 

Total strategic review charge 

Continuing Operations 
Non-core product lines and initiatives included in the strategic review were: 

Prima-Primex was an electronic auction system. Nasdaq ended its exclusive rights agreement with Primex 
Trading N.A., L.L.C. on December 31,2003. Nasdaq decided to consolidate our trading services to a common 
functionality within the SuperMontage system and ceased offering Primex effective January 16,2004. 

Nasdaq Tools-Nasdaq Tools was an order management system that ran on the Nasdaq Application Programming 
Interface using the Nasdaq Workstation I1 and was wound-down throughout 2003. Nasdaq Tools was a previously 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Nasdaq and was merged with and into Nasdaq on July 3 1,2002. 
NQLX-NQLX was a joint venture with LIFFE to create a market for single stock htures and other futures 
products. On July 24,2003, Nasdaq redeemed its interest in the NQLX joint venture and 
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transferred its ownership interest to LIFFE. LIFFE assumed financial and management responsibility for NQLX. 
This change did not have any impact on the operation of NQLX, but usage of the Nasdaq brand by the company 
ceased. 

BBX-BBX was a proposed platform for companies not eligible for The Nasdaq SmallCap Market to raise equity 
capital and increase the visibility of their stock. OTC Bulletin Board continues its existing operations. 

Liquidity Tracker-Liquidity Tracker was an automated order routing system designed to allow traders to direct 
orders to specific market makers based on recent trading activity. Liquidity Tracker ceased operations as of June 
30,2003. 
MarketSite Tower-Marketsite Tower is located at Nasdaq's Times Square, New York location. The video wall 
portion of the Tower was deemed impaired. 

The charge related to the elimination of the above non-core products and initiatives was approximately $52.3 million for 
the year ended December 31,2003. Included in the charge was the reduction of Nasdaq's investment in NQLX of $6.3 
million due to the redemption of Nasdaq's interest in the NQLX joint venture, the impairment of goodwill of $4.1 million 
associated with Nasdaq Tools, the impairment of certain intangible assets of $4.1 million, impairment of various capitalized 
software and fvred assets of $21.1 million, contract cancellations of $11.4 million and other costs of $5.3 million. Included in 
the $21.1 million impairment of various capitalized software and fixed assets is a $12.3 million impairment on the MarketSite 
Tower. See "Valuation of Long-Lived Assets," of Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies," for further 
discussion. The remaining impairment of capitalized software and fvted assets relates to the eliminated products specifically 
Nasdaq Tools, Primex, BBX and Liquidity Tracker. 

In addition, the charges from continuing operations recorded included severance costs of $32.4 million and the loss on 
early extinguishment of long-term debt of $13.2 million. The severance costs included $13.8 million related to the reductions 
in force of 329 employees. The remaining $18.6 million of severance costs relate to the fulfillment of employment contracts 
and obligations associated with the retirement and departure of certain members of senior management. Total headcount was 
956 as of December 3 1,2003 versus 1,227 (excluding 48 employees in discontinued operations) as of December 31,2002. 
The extinguishment of debt costs relate to the redemption of $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Nasdaq's 5.83% 
senior notes due 2007. In conjunction with its strategic review, Nasdaq reassessed its capital needs and determined that it no 
longer needed the liquidity of the senior notes. See Long-term debt section below for further discussion. 

The following table summarizes the strategic review accrual activity from December 3 1,2003 through December 3 1, 
2004. These accruals are recorded in other accrued liabilities and accrued personnel costs in the Current liabilities section and 
in other liabilities in the Non-current liabilities section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Nasdaq funded the majority of 
these reserves, except for a $4.6 million contract payment that is due January 2006 and other contractual sublease obligations 
that will continue through 20 10. 

Severance for Products & 
U.S. Employees Other Total - 

(in millions) 
Accrued liabilities associated with the strategic review as 

of December 3 1,2003 $ 16.4 $ 10.7 $ 27.1 
Cash payments (9.2) (9.6) (18.8) 
other (1.8) (0.2) (2.0) - 
Accrued liabilities associated with the strategic review as 

of December 3 1,2004 5.4 $ 0.9 $ 6.3 



FORM 10-K Page 99 of 140 

Table of Contents 

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued) 

Discontinued Operations 

Discontinued operations included in the strategic review were: 

Nasdaq Europe-Nasdaq Europe was a pan-European stock market licensed in Belgium. See below for complete 
discussion of the wind-down and eventual transfer of shares of Nasdaq Europe. 

ZndigoMarkets-IndigoMarkets was a joint venture with SSI Limited to develop international trading platforms. 
On September 30,2003, Nasdaq Global sold its interest in the joint venture to SSI Limited and recognized a gain 
on the sale of approximately $0.6 million. 

Europe 

As a result of the strategic review, Nasdaq supported the closing of the market operated by Nasdaq Europe, in which 
Nasdaq owned a 63.0% interest through December 18,2003. At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on June 26,2003, the 
shareholders of Nasdaq Europe voted to discontinue operations of the market and, as a result, market operations were wound- 
down pursuant to a Transition Plan approved by the Belgian Banking and Finance Commission. 

As Nasdaq Europe was winding-down its market operations, Nasdaq reached an agreement to transfer all of Nasdaq's 
shares in Nasdaq Europe to one of that company's original investors; the cash consideration for the transaction was nominal. 
The transfer of Nasdaq's shares of Nasdaq Europe was completed on December 18,2003. The entity ceased using the Nasdaq 
Europe name after the transaction and is now known as Easdaq. As part of the transaction, Nasdaq Europe's new owner 
committed to seek to restructure that company's obligations and, in that context, to request fiom certain major creditors 
releases of any claims they might have against Nasdaq Europe's former directors, officers and shareholders (if such claims 
are related to Nasdaq's prior ownership interest in Nasdaq Europe). 

At the time of the transfer, Nasdaq Europe had $15.1 million of external debt, accrued interest and other liabilities. 
Nasdaq recorded liabilities of $15.1 million that management believed were sufficient to satisfy any potential claims against 
Nasdaq. Nasdaq and Easdaq entered into an agreement dated as of October 27,2004, providing in relevant part that Easdaq 
was to reach agreements with certain of its creditors to settle these creditors' existing claims against Easdaq. On November 9, 
2004, Nasdaq was provided evidence that these claims (related to Nasdaq's prior ownership interest in Nasdaq Europe) of 
certain Easdaq's creditors were satisfied or otherwise settled without any liability for Nasdaq. Nasdaq was the third party 
beneficiary of these creditor agreements and in the fourth quarter of 2004 released the $15.1 million reserve it maintained in 
co~ec t ion  with such claims and liabilities. The release of the reserve was recorded as income from discontinued operations 
on the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Also, as part of Nasdaq's strategic review, during the third quarter of 2003, Nasdaq supported Nasdaq Europe's position 
in favor of the decision of the shareholders of Nasdaq Deutschland, a German exchange in which Nasdaq Europe had a 
50.0% interest, to suspend that company's trading operations effective August 29, 2003. Nasdaq Europe transferred all of its 
shares in Nasdaq Deutschland to one of the other shareholders, BWB Holding AG, as of August 29,2003. All shareholders of 
Nasdaq Deutschland agreed to release and discharge each other from certain claims that they may have had against each other 
in connection with certain agreements related to the operations and control of Nasdaq Deutschland. 

The charge related to the orderly wind-down and liquidation of market operations in Belgium and Germany was 
approximately $48.2 million (excluding the minority interest benefit of $2.0 million) for the year ended December 3 1,2003. 
The $48.2 million charge includes the $29.4 million impairment of certain technology 
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platforms held-for-sale and owned by Nasdaq Europe, the impairment of goodwill of $8.1 million (Nasdaq Europe and 
Nasdaq Deutschland), severance costs of $2.5 million and other costs of $8.2 million including contract cancellations. During 
the third quarter of 2003, the losses incurred by Nasdaq Europe exceeded the minority shareholders' interests. Therefore, 
once the minority shareholders reached this point, Nasdaq absorbed 100.0% of Nasdaq Europe's losses and strategic review 
charges. 

Long-term Debt 

On September 30,2003, Nasdaq redeemed $150.0 million of its senior notes. In conjunction with its strategic review, 
Nasdaq reassessed its capital needs and determined that it no longer needed the liquidity of the senior notes. Nasdaq paid the 
holders of the senior notes $150.0 million in outstanding principal amount, accrued interest of $1.2 million and an aggregate 
make-whole payment of approximately $12.6 million (representing the net present value of future payments). The repayment 
amounts reflected the terms of the senior notes, except that the parties agreed to a reduced make-whole amount equal to the 
excess of the discounted value of the remaining scheduled payments discounted at a factor equal to 100 basis points over the 
yield to maturity of U.S. Treasury securities having a maturity equal to the remaining average life of the redeemed amount. 
This represented a renegotiation of the 50 basis points over the yield to maturity required by the terms of the senior notes. 
Nasdaq recorded a $13.2 million pre-tax charge in the third quarter of 2003 related to the redemption of the senior notes. This 
charge included the make-whole payment and capitalized costs related to the issuance of the senior notes. Nasdaq used fimds 
fiom available cash and investments to finance the redemption. 

Nasdaq Member Revenue Sharing 

Effective June 1,2002, Nasdaq terminated its market data revenue sharing program for securities listed on The Nasdaq 
Stock Market, as a result of the SEC's decision to abrogate certain market participant tape sharing pilot programs. The SEC's 
action was in response to concerns about the effect of market data rebates on the accuracy of market data and the regulatory 
hnctions of self-regulatory organizations. The SEC's action allows Nasdaq and competing exchanges to retain tape revenue. 
However, Nasdaq continues to share market data revenue with the exchanges that participate in the UTP Plan based on their 
respective share of volume and trades of securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. In addition, Nasdaq continues to 
share tape revenue with Nasdaq market participants who report trades in the NYSE and the Amex-listed securities through 
Nasdaq. 

In August 2003, Nasdaq implemented the Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing Program, which like the General Revenue 
Sharing Program of The National Stock Exchange, a regional stock exchange, shares operating revenue fiom multiple 
business lines in addition to tape fee revenue. The new discretionary program shares operating revenue, which is interpreted 
to mean net revenue after expenses from all services that derive revenue fiom member trading and trade-reporting activity in 
Nasdaq-listed securities. As such, the program is designed to provide an incentive for quoting market participants to send 
orders and report trades to the Nasdaq Market Center. Nasdaq did not share any revenues during 2003 under the General 
Revenue Sharing Program. For the year ended December 3 1,2004, Nasdaq shared approximately $20.1 million under this 
new program which is shown net within Market Services revenues. See Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations," Market Services, for further discussion. 

Nasdaq Japan 

During the second quarter of 2002, Nasdaq recognized an other-than-temporary impairment charge on its equity 
investment in Nasdaq Japan. Nasdaq recognized this impairment as a result of the depressed level of market activity in Japan, 
combined with the suspension of Nasdaq Japan's hybrid trading system due to the inability to gain exchange approval of 
market rules and industry participation. These conditions led management 
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to conclude that Nasdaq Japan would not be profitable in the foreseeable future. As a result, Nasdaq Japan's financial 
liabilities to Nasdaq were not expected to be repaid and were recognized as a loss. Nasdaq Japan entered into liquidation 
status in late November 2002 and was completely dissolved by the end of May 2003. 

The net impact of the other-than-temporary impairment on Nasdaq's pre-tax income was $15.2 million. This represented 
a complete write-down of the investment, outstanding and unfunded loans (an additional $6.0 million was loaned and $7.0 
million was committed), foreign exchange translation losses and other receivables, partially offset by a re-valuation of certain 
variable Nasdaq Japan stock based awards of approximately $7.9 million. 

During the second quarter of 2003, Nasdaq reversed $5.0 million of the reserves related to Nasdaq Japan due to 
favorable contract negotiations and lower legal costs resulting from the complete liquidation of Nasdaq Japan. 

Other Restructuring and Related Party Transactions 

In conjunction with settling various issues associated with the Restructuring, NASD made a payment to Nasdaq in the 
amount of $5.6 million during the first quarter of 2002. Nasdaq treated the payment as a contribution and reflected it in 
additional paid-in capital in its Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, during December 2002, Nasdaq purchased NASD's 
50.0% interest in NASD Insurance Agency, LLC (subsequently renamed the Nasdaq Insurance Agency, LLC ("Nasdaq 
Insurance Agency") or ("NIA")) for $0.5 million. The payment was recorded as a distribution to NASD. The agency provides 
insurance brokerage services and specializes in the director and officer liability insurance market. Nasdaq accounts for its 
investment in the Nasdaq Insurance Agency under the equity method of accounting as of December 31,2004. Nasdaq 
believes that the Nasdaq Insurance Agency was a Variable Interest Entity under FASB Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation 
of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51" ("FIN 46") and its amendment 
entitled FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities" ("FIN 46(R)"). 
However, Nasdaq does not believe that it is the primary beneficiary of the NIA and therefore did not consolidate the NIA in 
its results of operations. 

On January 1,2005, Nasdaq purchased the remaining 50.0% interest in the Nasdaq Insurance Agency from AIG NJV, 
Inc. for nominal consideration. See Note 23, "Subsequent Events," for further discussion. 

QQQ Lists on Nasdaq 
On December 1,2004, the Nasdaq-100 Index Tracking Stock ("QQQ) transferred its listing to Nasdaq from Amex. 

Nasdaq and Amex reached a mutual decision to transfer the QQQ earlier than the contractual date of June 2005. It trades 
under the symbol "QQQQ." 

4. Acquisition of Brut 
As previously discussed, on September 7,2004 (See "Acquisition of Brut," of Note 3, "Significant Transactions"), 

Nasdaq announced the completion of its acquisition of Brut and related entities, including Toll, from SunGard for a total 
consideration of $190.0 million in cash, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. In addition, Nasdaq incurred direct costs 
of $3.1 million associated with the acquisition. Nasdaq accounted for the acquisition under the purchase method of 
accounting. Brut and related affiliates are included within the Market Services segment. 

Nasdaq had not finalized the allocation of the purchase price as of December 3 1,2004. Nasdaq expects future 
adjustments related to taxes and settlement of post-closing adjustments. An estimation of the purchase 
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price allocation as of September 7,2004 was prepared and included as part of these financial statements. The initial purchase 
price was allocated as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Net assets acquired: 
Accounts receivable, net 
Deferred tax asset 
Other current assets 
Property and equipment, net 
Intangible assets 
'Other assets 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Accrued personnel costs 
Non-current deferred tax liability 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 

Total net assets 

Goodwill 
Intangible assets 

Estimated purchase price 

During the fourth quarter of 2004, Nasdaq adjusted the initial allocation of the purchase price. Goodwill decreased from 
$141.7 million to $141.4 million primarily due to a decrease in Nasdaq's estimate of severance liability for Brut employees. 
Nasdaq does not expect future adjustments to the purchase price to be significant. Nasdaq expects to deduct $2.7 million of 
goodwill for income tax purposes for the year ended December 3 1,2004. 

The following table presents details of the identifiable intangible assets acquired in the Brut acquisition: 

Estimated Average 
Amount Useful Life 

- -

(in thousands) (in years) 
Identifiable intangible assets: 

Technology 
Customer relationships 

Total 

Both the goodwill and intangible assets related to the acquisition of Brut are included on the books and records of Brut 
and in the Market Services segment. 

The unaudited pro forma combined historical results for the year ended December 3 1,2004 and 2003, as if Nasdaq had 
acquired Toll and related entities at the beginning of fiscal 2003, are estimated to be: 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

(in thousands, except per 
share amounts) 

Revenues $663,666 $7O6,2 12 



FORM 10-K Page 103 of 140 

Gross margin 
Net income (loss) fiom continuing operations 
Basic and diluted loss per share 

F-2 1 



FORM 10-K Page 104 of 140 

Table of Contents 

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued) 

The pro forma results include amortization of the intangibles presented above and the elimination of intercompany 
transactions had Nasdaq and Toll acted as a combined company. The pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of what 
actually would have occurred if the acquisition had been completed as of the beginning of 2003, nor are they necessarily 
indicative of future consolidated results. 

The integration of Brut's services into Nasdaq is designed to be seamless to both Nasdaq and Brut customers. Brut 
continues to operate under the Brut name as a broker-dealer; however, it operates as part of The Nasdaq Stock Market. Brut 
is subject to the SEC's Uniform Net Capital Rule (the "Rule"), which requires the maintenance of minimum net capital. Brut 
has elected to use the basic method permitted by the Rule to determine its net capital, which requires Brut maintain minimum 
net capital equal to the greater of $100,000 or 6 2/3% of aggregate indebtedness, as defined. The rule also requires that 
aggregate indebtedness not exceed 15 times net capital. At December 31,2004, Brut had net capital of $8.1 million, which 
was $6.4 million in excess of its required net capital of $1.7 million. 

Brut results are included for the period September 7,2004 through December 3 1,2004 in the Consolidated Statements 
of Income. 

5. Discontinued Operations 
On September 30,2003, Nasdaq Global sold its interest in IndigoMarkets to its partner, SSI Limited, and recognized a 

gain of approximately $0.6 million on the sale. In addition, on December 18,2003, Nasdaq transferred its interest in Nasdaq 
Europe to one of that company's original investors for nominal cash consideration. In the fourth quarter of 2004, Nasdaq 
recognized a gain on the release of a reserve for potential claims against Nasdaq that management established at the time of 
the transfer of Nasdaq's shares of Nasdaq Europe. In the fourth quarter of 2004, Easdaq reached agreements with certain of 
its creditors to settle these creditors' existing claims against Easdaq. Nasdaq was the third party beneficiary of these creditor 
agreements and released the $15.1 million reserve management established. See "Strategic Review," of Note 3, "Significant 
Transactions," for further discussion. 

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets" ("SFAS 144"), 
both Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets are reflected as discontinued operations for all years presented. As discontinued 
operations, the revenues, costs and expenses and cash flows of Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets have been excluded from 
the respective captions in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and have been 
presented separately as "Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax" and as "Cash provided by (used in) 
discontinued operations." There were no assets and liabilities of Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets at December 3 1,2004 
and 2003. 

The following table presents condensed, combined results of operations for Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets. 

Year Ended December 31, 

2004 2003 2002-
(in thousands) 

Revenues $ - $ 10,632 $ 11,616 
Pre-tax income (loss) 15,154 (63,998) (2 1,765) 
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (5,596) 3,663 (128) 

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 
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The remainder of the notes to the consolidated financial statements reflects results from continuing operations, unless 
otherwise noted. 

6. Deferred Revenue 

Nasdaq's deferred revenue as of December 3 1,2004 relating to Corporate Client Group fees will be recognized in the 
following years: 

Initial Listing of 
Listing Additional Annual 

Fees Shares and Other Total 

(in thousands) 
Fiscal year ended: 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 and thereafter 

Nasdaq's deferred revenue for the year ended December 3 1,2004 and 2003 is reflected in the following tables. The 
additions reflect Corporate Client Group revenues charged during the year while the amortization reflects Corporate Client 
Group revenues recognized during the year in accordance with GAAP. 

Initial Listing of 
Listing Additional Annual 

Fees Shares and Other Total 

(in thousands) 
Balance at January 1,2004 $ 65,957 $ -
Additions 45,846 97,446 
Amortization (36,745) (97,446) 

Balance at December 3 1,2004 

Initial Listing of 
Listing Additional Annual 

Fees Shares and Other Total 

(in thousmds) 
Balance at January 1,2003 $ 72,841 $ -
Additions 30,206 97,964 
Amortization (37,090) (97,964) 

Balance at December 3 1,2003 

7. Real Estate Developments 

New York 
In 2001, Nasdaq recorded a sublease loss reserve of $2 1.5 million in anticipation of relocating its headquarters location 

from One Liberty Plaza to 1500 Broadway. Nasdaq signed a lease commencing May 1,2002 at 1500 Broadway. Later in 
2002, Nasdaq's management reconsidered its decision to relocate to 1500 Broadway and decided to maintain its headquarters 
at One Liberty Plaza. Nasdaq maintained the initial reserve 

http://www.sec.govlArchives/edgarldata~1120193/0001193
12505048077ld1Ok.htm 
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recorded in 2001 (including interest accretion) for the sublease loss at 1500 Broadway. At December 3 1,2003, the estimated 
loss on the sublease was approximately $20.5 million. In 2004, Nasdaq signed subleases for all of its space at 1500 
Broadway. At December 31,2004, Nasdaq updated the sublease loss estimate based on current assumptions and known 
sublease incomes and recorded an additional loss of $1.2 million to general and administrative expense in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. The additional loss was primarily due to a change in the assumption of sublease term commencement 
dates. At December 3 1,2004, the estimated sublease loss reserve was approximately $18.0 million. The estimated reserve 
was adjusted throughout the year to reflect interest accretion, rental payments made during 2004 and depreciation on 
leasehold improvements. The estimated loss was calculated using a 7.5% net discount rate and estimated 21-year sublease 
terms commencing in 2004 and 2005 at estimated market rates. 

In 200 1, Nasdaq also signed a lease for expansion space on one of the floors it occupied at One Liberty Plaza, which 
was to commence on October 1,2004. Nasdaq's management does not intend to occupy this space and began marketing the 
expansion space for sublease during the third quarter of 2004. Nasdaq is obligated under the terms of the expansion space 
lease to pay $33.9 million over the remaining life of the lease and recorded a sublease loss reserve of $12.8 million, which is 
included in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 
2004, Nasdaq's management decided that it no longer needed the space it currently occupied on the expansion floor and 
recorded an additional estimated sublease loss reserve of $4.8 million for the remaining space. This charge is also included in 
general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Nasdaq is obligated under the terms of this 
lease to pay $12.6 million over the remaining usehl life of the lease. Both estimated losses for One Liberty Plaza were 
calculated using a 7.5% net discount rate and estimated 17-year sublease term commencing in January 2006 at estimated 
market rates. 

New Jersey 

As a part of Nasdaq's strategic review, Nasdaq vacated the space Nasdaq Tools occupied at 15 Exchange Place, Jersey 
City, New Jersey. As of December 3 1,2003 Nasdaq was obligated under the terms of this lease to pay $2.8 million over the 
remaining life of the lease and recorded a sublease loss reserve of $1.2 million, which was included in the elimination of non- 
core product lines, initiatives and severance in the Consolidated Statements of Income. At December 3 1,2004, Nasdaq 
updated the sublease loss reserve based on current assumptions and recorded an additional loss of $0.2 million to general and 
administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The estimated loss was calculated using a 7.5% net 
discount rate and estimated 6-year sublease term commencing in the beginning of 2005 at estimated market rates. Nasdaq is 
currently actively marketing the space and has signed a sublease agreement for approximately 50.0% of the space. At 
December 3 1,2004, the sublease loss reserve was approximately $0.8 million. The estimated loss was adjusted throughout 
the year to reflect interest accretion and rental payments made during the 2004. 

Maiyland 
During 2003, Nasdaq decided to vacate part of the space it occupies in Rockville, Maryland located at 9600 Blackwell 

and recorded a sublease loss reserve of $2.3 million, which was included in general and administrative expense in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income. Nasdaq's management re-evaluated its decision to vacate the space at 9600 Blackwell 
and decided instead to sell the building it owns and occupies in Rockville, Maryland located at 95 13 Key West Avenue. 
Based on Nasdaq's management's revised decision, Nasdaq released the sublease loss reserve recorded for 9600 Blackwell 
which totaled $1.9 million, net of rental payments, in September 30,2004, which is recorded in general and administrative 
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 



- 

-- 

- - - 

FORM 10-K Page 108 of 140 

Table of Contents 

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued) 

Nasdaq began actively marketing the 95 13 Key West building for sale in the fourth quarter of 2004 and expects the 
building to be sold within a year. During the fourth quarter of 2004, Nasdaq recognized a $7.4 million loss, which is included 
in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income, on the write-down of the building's carrying 
amount to fair market value less cost to sell. Fair value was determined using a quoted market price fi-om an independent 
third party. 

Connecticut 
In 2004, Nasdaq also evaluated its real estate needs in Trumbull, Connecticut. Nasdaq currently owns and occupies a 

building located at 80 Merritt Boulevard and leases and occupies another building located at 35 Nutmeg Drive. Nasdaq's 
management determined that based on staff reductions, all employees in Trumbull will consolidate into Nasdaq's building at 
80 Merritt Boulevard. Although Nasdaq's lease at 35 Nutmeg Drive terminates in July 2008, Nasdaq plans on moving all 
employees from 35 Nutmeg Drive to 80 Merritt Boulevard by the end of 2005. As a result, Nasdaq expects to record a charge 
of approximately $2.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2005 when it completely vacates 35 Nutmeg Drive for its remaining 
lease obligation. In order to accommodate all employees in the Merritt building, two data center spaces will be converted into 
office space. The data centers will cease being used by the end of the first quarter of 2005, and accordingly, Nasdaq began 
accelerating the data centers' fmed assets and leasehold improvements over the new estimated useful life. Nasdaq recorded 
$4.5 million of accelerated depreciation for the data center assets for the year ended December 3 1,2004 and will record an 
additional $2.2 million in the first quarter of 2005. 

8. Investments 

Investments consist of U.S. Treasury securities, obligations of U.S. Government sponsored enterprises, municipal 
bonds, auction rate securities and other financial instruments. Following is a summary of investments classified as available- 
for-sale that are carried at fair value as of December 3 1,2004: 

Gross Gross 
Unrealized Unrealized Estimated 

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value 

(in thousands) 
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies $ 57,900 $ - $ 693 $ 57,207 
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 53,248 86 897 52,437 
Auction rate securities 46,125 - - 46,125 
U.S. corporate securities 19,234 - 90 19,144 

Total $176,507 $ 86 $ 1 , 6 8 0  $174,913 

At December 31,2004, all held-to-maturity investments consisted of U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. 
Government agencies. The cost of the securities was $30.6 million and had gross unrealized losses of $0.4 million and a total 
estimated fair value of $30.2 million at December 31,2004. Of the $0.4 million of gross unrealized losses 98.9% have been 
in an unrealized loss position for less than 12 months and are deemed to be temporary. 
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Following is a summary of investments classified as available-for-sale which are carried at fair value as of December 
3 1,2003: 

Gross Gross 
Unrealized Unrealized Estimated 

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value 

(in thousands) 
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies $1 12,700 $ 169 $ 254 
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 13,966 125 9 
Asset-backed securities 10,708 62 -

U.S. corporate securities 48,229 62 54 

Total $185,603 $ 418 $ 317 

At December 31,2003, all held-to-maturity investments consisted of U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. 
Government agencies. The cost of the securities was $28.3 million and had gross unrealized gains of $54 thousand and a total 
estimated fair value of $28.3 million at December 3 1,2003. 

The following table shows the fair value of our available-for-sale investments in an unrealized loss position deemed to 
be temporary for less than 12 months at December 3 1,2004 and 2003: 

December 31,2004 December 31,2003 

Gross Gross 
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized 

Value Losses Value Losses 

(in thousands) 
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies $ 57,207 $ 693 $31,805 $ 254 
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 50,647 897 6,013 9 
U.S. corporate securities 14,970 69 23,087 54 

Total $122,824 $ 1,659 $60,905 $ 317 

At December 3 1,2004, the amount of investments in an unrealized loss position deemed to be temporary for more than 
12 months was immaterial. At December 31,2003, Nasdaq did not have any investments in an unrealized loss position 
deemed to be temporary for more than 12 months. 

The cost and estimated fair value of debt securities classified as available-for-sale that are carried at fair value at 
December 3 1,2004, by contractual maturity, are shown below. 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Cost Gain Loss Fair Value 

(in thousands) 
Due in one year or less 

Due after one through five years 

Total 

All investments classified as held-to-maturity mature in 2005 and 2006 in the amounts of $28.6 million and $2.0 
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During the year ended December 3 1,2004 debt available-for-sale securities with a fair market value at the date of sale 
of $173.2 million were sold. During the years ended December 3 1,2003 and 2002, debt and equity available-for-sale 
securities with a fair market value at the date of sale of $86.5 million and $209.8 million, respectively, were sold. For the 
years ended December 3 1,2004,2003 and 2002, the gross realized gains on such sales totaled $0.1 million, $1.7 million and 
$3.0 million, respectively and the gross realized losses totaled $0.3 million, $1.1 million and $2.9 million, respectively. The 
net adjustment after tax to unrealized holding losses on available-for-sale securities included as a separate component of 
stockholders' equity totaled $1.0 million, $0.2 million and $1.1 million for 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively. The net 
adjustment after tax to unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities included as a separate component of 
stockholders' equity due to the sale of securities totaled $0.1 million, $1.0 million and $(0.9) million for 2004,2003 and 
2002, respectively. 

In accordance with SFAS 1 15, Nasdaq recognized pre-tax charges of $0.9 million and $1.0 million for the years ended 
December 3 1,2003 and 2002, respectively, attributable to the impairment of five and 1 1, respectively publicly-traded equity 
securities. The impairment charges were related to the decline in the fair value of Nasdaq's publicly-traded equity 
investments below their cost basis that were judged to be other-than-temporary. Nasdaq recorded the impairment losses in the 
Consolidated Statement. of Income and adjusted the cost basis of respective securities down to fair value as a new cost basis. 
As of December 3 1,2003, all equity securities including those impaired were sold. 

At December 3 1,2004 and 2003, investments with a carrying value of approximately $30.6 million and $28.3 million 
were pledged as collateral for Nasdaq's $25.0 million note payable. Collateral is limited to U.S. Government and Agency 
securities with a margined value of not less than 100.0% of the loan and is invested in accordance with the note agreement. 
See Note 11, "Senior Notes," for hrther discussion. 

9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

The following table outlines goodwill by reportable segment: 

Market Issuer 
Services Services Total-

(in thousands) 
Balance as of December 3 1,2003 $ - $ - $ -
Additions(') 141,381 -- 141,381 

Balance as of December 3 1,2004 $141,381 $ - $141,381 

(1) See Note 4, "Acquisition of Brut," for further discussion. 

The following table summarizes intangible assets, net by reportable segment: 

Market Services Issuer Services Other Total 

Gross Gross Gross Gross 
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated 
Amount Amount Amount- Amortization - Amortization - Amortization Amount Amortization 

(in thousands) 

Technology(2) $ - $ - $ - $ -
Customer relationship^(^) 
Pension intangible assetd3) 
Other 

Total 
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(2) Both the technology and customer relationships intangible assets are being amortized over a ten-year estimated average 
useful life ending 2014. Amortization expense for the next five years commencing in 2005 is expected to be $4.8 
million, $4.3 million, $4.2 million, $4.1 million and $4.1 million, respectively. 

(3) Pension intangible assets were recorded as required by SFAS No. 87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions." Amounts 
are not amortized but are adjusted as part of the annual minimum pension liability assessment. 

10. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
Nasdaq considers cash and cash equivalents, investments, receivables, net, receivables and payables with related parties, 

accounts payable and accrued expenses, accrued personnel costs, Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes to be its financial 
instruments. The carrying amounts reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the above financial instruments, except 
for the Senior and Subordinated Notes closely approximates their fair values due to the short-term nature of these assets and 
liabilities. The approximate fair value of Nasdaq's Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes were estimated using discounted 
cash flow analysis based on Nasdaq's assumed incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. 
This analysis indicates that the fair value of these obligations at December 3 1,2004 and 2003 approximates their carrying 
amounts. 

11. Senior Notes 
On September 30,2003, Nasdaq redeemed its $150.0 million outstanding principal amount of the senior notes. Under 

the terms of the senior notes, Nasdaq paid the holders of the senior notes $150.0 million ,in outstanding principal amount, 
accrued interest of $1.2 million and an aggregate make-whole payment of approximately $12.6 million (representing the net 
present value of hture payments). Nasdaq recorded a $13.2 million pre-tax charge in the third quarter of 2003 related to the 
redemption of the senior notes. This charge included the make-whole payment and capitalized costs related to the issuance of 
the senior notes. Nasdaq used funds from available cash and investments to finance the redemption. See "Long-term Debt," 
of Note 3, "Significant Transactions," for further discussion. Interest expensed and paid under the senior notes totaled 
approximately $6.5 million and $5.6 million for the years ended December 31,2003 and 2002, respectively. 

In May 1997, Nasdaq entered into a $25.0 million note payable with a financial institution (the "Lender"). Principal 
payments are scheduled to begin in 2007 and continue in equal monthly installments until maturity in 2012. The note requires 
monthly interest payments through May 2007 at an annual rate of 7.41%. After May 2007, Nasdaq will incur interest equal to 
the Lender's cost of funds rate, as defined in the agreement, plus 0.5%. Interest expensed and paid under the agreement 
totaled approximately $1.9 million for each of the years ended December 31,2004,2003 and 2002. 

12. Subordinated Notes 
On May 3,2001, Nasdaq issued and sold $240.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.0% convertible subordinated 

notes due 2006 to Hellman & Friedman Capital Partners IV, L.P. and certain of its affiliated limited partnerships 
(collectively, "Hellman & Friedman"). Until Nasdaq is granted Exchange Registration, Hellman & Friedman may only 
exercise its conversion rights for a number of shares of common stock such that immediately following such conversion, 
NASD will continue to control greater than 50.0% of the combined voting power of Nasdaq. The annual 4.0% coupon will be 
payable in arrears and the Subordinated Notes are convertible at any time into an aggregate of 12.0 million shares of common 
stock at $20.00 per share, subject to adjustment, in general, for any stock split, dividend, combination, recapitalization or 
other simiIar event. Interest expensed and paid under the agreement totaled approximately $9.6 million for each of the years 
ended December 31,2004,2003 and 2002. 
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In 2002, Nasdaq stockholders approved an amendment to Nasdaq's Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the 
"Certificate of Incorporation") that provided for voting debt. As a result, the holders of the Subordinated Notes may vote on 
an as-converted basis on all matters on which holders of common stock have the right to vote, subject to the current 5.0% 
voting limitation in the Certificate of Incorporation. Nasdaq has granted Hellman & Friedman certain registration rights with 
respect to the shares of common stock underlying the Subordinated Notes. 

On an as-converted basis as of December 31,2004, Hellman & Friedman owned an approximate 13.7% equity interest 
in Nasdaq as a result of its ownership of these Subordinated Notes and 500,000 shares of common stock purchased from 
Nasdaq in a separate transaction. Hellman & Friedman is permitted to designate one person reasonably acceptable to Nasdaq 
for nomination as a director of Nasdaq for so long as Hellman & Friedman owns Subordinated Notes andlor shares of 
common stock issued upon conversion thereof representing at least 50.0% of the shares of common stock issuable upon 
conversion of the Subordinated Notes initially purchased. Patrick Healy, a managing director of Hellman & Friedman, was 
designated by Hellman & Friedman and currently serves on the Board of Directors. 

13. Income Taxes 

The income tax (provision) benefit from continuing operations consists of the following amounts: 

Year Ended December 31, 

(in thousands) 
Current income taxes: 
Federal $ 26,753 
State (1 1) 
Foreign (2,790) 

Total current income taxes 

Deferred income taxes: 
Federal 
State 
Foreign 

Total deferred income taxes 

Total income tax (provision) benefit 

Income taxes (refunded) paid during the year 
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A reconciliation of the income tax (provision) benefit, based on the U.S. federal statutory rate, to Nasdaq's actual 
income tax (provision) benefit from continuing operations for the years ended December 31,2004,2003 and 2002 is as 
follows: 

Year Ended December 31, 

(in thousands) 
Federal income tax (provision) benefit at the statutory rate $23,223 
State income tax (provision) benefit, net of federal effect 2,897 
Change in valuation allowance-foreign losses (1,468) 
Foreign taxes -

Tax preferred investments 68 1 
Nondeductible expenses (1,410) 
Tax credits 1,711 
Goodwill impairment (1,431) 
Prior year tax payable (2,904) 
Other -(59) 

Actual income tax (provision) benefit $2 1,240 
7 

The temporary differences, which give rise to Nasdaq's deferred tax assets and (liabilities) consisted of the following: 

December 31, 

2004 2003 

(in thousands) 

Deferred tax assets: 
Deferred fees 
Foreign net operating loss 
State net operating loss 
Technology costs 
Compensation and benefits 
Lease reserves 
Capital loss carryforward 
Strategic review charges 
Other 

Gross deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Depreciation 
Software development costs 
Other 

Gross deferred tax liabilities 

Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance 

Less: Valuation allowance 

Net deferred tax asset 
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Of the $4.9 million of state and the $1.5 million of foreign net operating losses at December 3 1,2004, state losses of 
$4.9 million will expire through 2023, foreign losses of $0.4 million will expire 2007 through 2011 and $1.1 million have no 
expiration date. Of the $6.9 million of capital loss carryforwards, $0.7 million will expire 2006 through 2008 and $6.2 
million will expire in 2009. 

The change in the valuation allowance fiom December 3 1,2003 to December 3 1,2004 is as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Balance at December 3 1,2003 
Utilization of prior year foreign net operating losses in the current period 
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards generated in 2004 
State tax effect of prior year valuation allowance 
Capital loss carryforwards generated in 2004 

Balance at December 3 1,2004 

Not included in the deferred tax assets for the year ended December 3 1,2004 is a capital loss carryforward of $15.8 
million generated through discontinued operations. The carryforward will expire in 2008 and Nasdaq believes that it is more 
likely than not that no benefit will be realized on this asset. Therefore, a valuation allowance of $15.8 million was 
established. 

The following represents the domestic and foreign components of income (loss) from continuing operations before 
income tax (benefit) expense: 

Year Ended December 31, 

Domestic 
Foreign 

Income (loss) before income tax (expense) benefit 

14. Employee Benefits 

Nasdaq is a participating employer in a noncontributory, defmed-benefit pension plan that NASD sponsors for the 
benefit of its eligible employees and the eligible employees of its subsidiaries. As of January 1,2004, the benefits are 
primarily based on years of service and the employees' career-average salary during employment, subject to a phase-in 
period. Prior to 2004, the benefits were primarily based on years of service and the employees' average salary during the 
highest 60 consecutive months of employment. 

Until November I, 2003, Nasdaq participated in a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan ("SEW') that was 
maintained by NASD for certain senior executives. On November 1,2003, Nasdaq formed its own SERP and transferred all 
amounts to this new plan. Also during 2003, Nasdaq changed the accrual of benefits fiom age 65 to the later of age 55 or 10 
years of service, except in the case of an executive who has a contract with a SERP provision, then benefits are accrued in 
accordance with the contract terms. 
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The following table sets forth the pension and SERP plans funded status as of December 3 1: 

Pension SERP Total Pension SERP Total 

(in thousands) 
Change in benefit obligation 
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 79,842 $ 70,100 
Service cost 6,467 5,700 
Interest cost 4,361 3,905 
Actuarial (gains) losses (6,158) (683) 
Benefits paid (14,199) (14,698) 
Plan amendments - (10,233) 
Loss due to change in discount rate 6,377 6,870 
Gain due to change in salary scale (3,189) -

Benefit obligation at end of year 

Change in plan assets 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of 

Year 
Net employee transfers into plan 
Actual return on plan assets 
Company contributions 
Benefits paid 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 

Underfunded status of the plan 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 
Unrecognized prior service cost 
Unrecognized transition asset 

Accrued benefit cost 

Accumulated benefit obligation 

Weighted-average assumptions as of 
December 31: 

Discount rate 
Expected return on plan assets 
Rate of compensation increase 

The following table sets forth the combined plans' amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income: 

Year Ended December 31, 

2004 2003 

(in thousands) 
Components of net periodic benefit cost 
Service cost 
Interest cost 
Expected return on plan assets 
Amortization of unrecognized transition asset 

2002 
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Curtailment/settlement loss recognized 
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(1) Includes strategic review amounts related to the fulfillment of employment SERP contracts and obligations associated 
with the retirement and departure of certain members of senior management. See "Strategic Review," of Note 3, 
"Significant Transactions," for further discussion. 

The investment policy and strategy of the plan assets, as established by NASD Pension Plan Committee, is to provide 
for preservation of principal, both in nominal and real terms, in order to meet the long-term spending needs of the pension 
plan by investing assets per the target allocations stated below. Asset allocations are reviewed quarterly and adjusted, as 
appropriate, to remain within target allocations. The investment policy is reviewed on an annual basis, under the advisement 
of an investment consultant, to determine if the policy or asset allocation targets should be changed. The policy was changed 
in 2004 and transition to the revised asset allocation strategy was in process as of December 31,2004. The plan assets 
consisted of the following as of December 31: 

Target Allocation 2004 2003 

Equity securities 45.0% -
75.0% 65.5% 74.0% 

Debt securities and cash equivalents 10.0% -
40.0% 26.0 26.0 

Other investment strategies 10.0% -
20.0% --8.5 -

Total 100.0% 100.0% 
I-

The expected long-term rate of return for the plan's total assets is based on the expected return of each of the above 
categories, weighted based on the current target allocation for each class. Equity securities are expected to return 8.0% to 
10.0% over the long-term, other investment strategies are anticipated to yield 6.0% and 8.0%, while cash and fvted income is 
expected to return between 4.0% and 6.0%. Based on historical experience, the committee expects that the plan's asset 
managers overall will provide a modest (1 .O% per annum) premium to their respective market benchmark indices. 

The pension and SERP plans are measured at the beginning of each fiscal year. Based on the current Internal Revenue 
Service regulations, Nasdaq expects to contribute approximately $8.9 million to the pension plan in 2005. This includes $5.1 
million for the 2004 plan year contribution and $3.8 million for the 2005 plan year. The SERP is an unfunded plan. 

Nasdaq expects to make the following benefit payments to participants in the next ten fiscal years: 

Pension SERP Total 

(in thousands) 
Fiscal year ended: 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
20 10 through 20 14 

During 2004,2003 and 2002, there were settlement losses of $0.2 million, $2.1 million and $1.2 million, respectively 
for employees included within the SEW plan due to early retirements. 
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Pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 87 related to the SEW, an intangible asset of $1.0 million and an adjustment to 
stockholders' equity of $1.4 million (net of tax of $0.9 million), were recorded as of December 3 1,2001 to recognize the 
minimum pension liability. During 2002, the intangible asset and adjustment to stockholders' equity both were reduced to 
$0.6 million and $1.1 million (net of tax of $0.7 million), respectively. During 2003, the intangible asset and the minimum 
pension liability were adjusted to $0.7 million and $1.4 million (net of tax of $0.9 million), respectively. As of December 3 1, 
2004, the intangible asset and the minimum pension liability were $0.3 million and $1.8 million (net of tax of $1.2 million), 
respectively. 

Prior to April 1,2002, Nasdaq participated in a voluntary savings plan for eligible employees of NASD and its 
subsidiaries. As of April 1,2002, in accordance with the Restructuring, Nasdaq formed its own voluntary savings plan and all 
amounts were transferred to this new plan. This voluntary savings plan is a defined-contribution plan. Employees are 
immediately eligible to make contributions to the plan and are also eligible for an employer contribution match at an amount 
equal to 100.0% of the first 4.0% of eligible employee contributions. Eligible plan participants may also receive an additional 
discretionary match from Nasdaq. There was no discretionary match for 2004,2003 and 2002. Savings plan expense included 
in compensation and benefits expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 3 1,2004, 
2003 and 2002, was $3.1 million, $3.4 million and $1.8 million, respectively. 

15. Stock Compensation and Stock Awards 

Effective December 5,2000, as amended on February 14,2001 and January 23,2002, Nasdaq adopted The Nasdaq 
Stock Market, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), under which nonqualified and qualified incentive stock options, 
restricted stock, restricted stock units, or other stock based awards may be granted to employees, directors, officers and 
consultants. A total of 24,500,000 shares are authorized under the Plan. At December 3 1,2004,7,550,992 shares were 
available for future grants under the Plan. In 2003, Nasdaq also issued stock options and restricted stock outside of the Plan. 

In 2004, Nasdaq granted 6,068,800 stock options, 109,000 shares of restricted stock to employees and officers and 
49,014 shares of restricted stock to non-employee Board of Directors members pursuant to the Plan. During 2004,824,202 
stock options and 59,947 shares of restricted stock awards were forfeited. 

In December 2001, the Board adopted a revised Non-Employee Directors Compensation Policy whereby beginning in 
2002 all non-employee directors were awarded 5,000 stock options per year with an exercise price at fair market value, which 
may be exercised for up to 10 years while serving on the Board of Directors (in general, three years fiom termination of 
service on the Board of Directors). On January 23,2002, a total of 65,000 stock options were awarded to non-employee 
directors pursuant to the policy. Later in November 2002, the Board approved a modification to the Non-Employee Directors 
Compensation Policy whereby all non-employee directors will receive a compensation package valued at $40,000. On April 
28,2004, the Board approved a modification to the Non-Employee Directors Compensation Policy whereby all non- 
employee directors would receive a base compensation package valued at $50,000. Each non-employee director may elect to 
receive the base compensation package in cash, payable in equal quarterly installments, shares of restricted stock or a 
combination thereof. The shares of restricted stock will vest two years from the date of grant and unvested shares are 
forfeited in certain circumstances upon termination of the director's service on the Nasdaq Board. During 2004,49,014 
shares of restricted stock were awarded to non-employee directors. Directors who serve as committee chairs or as members 
of the Audit Committee and the chairman of the board are entitled to additional compensation beyond the base compensation 
package, however, these additional amounts are paid in cash rather than restricted stock. 

Restricted stock awards are awarded in the name of the employee or officer at fair market value on the date of the grant. 
In 2004, Nasdaq granted 109,000 shares of restricted stock to employees and officers with a 
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weighted-average grant price of $7.45. Restricted stock awards contain restrictions on sales and transfers, are generally 
subject to a five-year vesting period and are expensed over the vesting period. Nasdaq recognized $0.5 million and $2.0 
million in amortization expense related to restricted stock during the years ended December 3 1,2004 and December 3 1, 
2002, respectively. For the year ended December 3 1,2003, the number of restricted stock awards forfeited more than offset 
the yearly amortization expense to a $0.05 million benefit. 

Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date of the grant. 
Nasdaq accounts for stock option grants in accordance with APB 25, and, accordingly, recognizes no compensation expense 
related to such grants. 

Options granted generally vest over three years and expire 10 years from the date of grant. Beginning in 2004, the Board 
approved the issuance of Performance Accelerated Stock Options ("PASO") and granted 4,919,000 PASOs during the year. 
The PASOs include a performance based accelerated vesting feature based on Nasdaq achieving specific levels of 
performance in fiscal years 2004 and 2005. The vestings of the PAS0 awards are no longer than six years fiom the grant 
date. All options to date have been granted at fair market value on the date of grant. At December 3 1,2004, options for 
8,368,901 shares were vested (including grants outside of the Plan), and exercisable with a weighted-average exercise price 
of $1 1.92. At December 31,2003, options for 7,550,589 shares were vested (including grants outside of the Plan), and 
exercisable with a weighted-average exercise price of $12.43. The weighted-average remaining contract life was 7.6 years 
and 7.5 years at December 3 1,2004 and 2003, respectively. 

Stock option activity, including shares from outside of the Plan, during the year ended December 31,2004 is set forth 
below: 

Price per Share 

Shares Range Weighted Average 

Balance, January 1,2004 5.28 -
13,423,134 $ $19.70 $ 10.82 

Granted 6.15 -
6,068,800 $ $ 9.15 $ 7.58 

Exercised 5.28 -
310,296 $ $ 8.50 $ 5.39 

Canceled 6.15 -
2,124,875 $ $13.00 $ 10.94 

Balance, December 31,2004 5.28 -
17,056,763 $ $19.70 $ 9.75 

The following table presents the options outstanding as of December 3 1,2004 by ranges of exercise prices: 

Outstanding as of Weighted Average 
Range of Exercise Prices December 31,2004 Exercise Price 
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Stock option activity during the year ended December 3 1,2003 is set forth below: 

Price per Share 

Shares Range Weighted Average 

Balance, January 1,2003 

Granted 

Exercised 
Canceled 

Balance, December 3 1,2003 

Nasdaq has an employee stock purchase plan for all eligible employees. Under the plan, shares of common stock may be 
purchased at six-month intervals (each, an "Offering Period") at 85.0% of the lower of the fair market value on the fust or the 
last day of each Offering Period. Employees may purchase shares having a value not exceeding 10.0% of their annual 
compensation, subject to applicable annual Internal Revenue Service limitations. During 2004 and 2003, employees 
purchased an aggregate of 110,408 and 143,352 shares at a weighted-average price of $5.45 and $6.95 per share, 
respectively. 

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required under SFAS 148 and has been 
determined as if Nasdaq had accounted for all stock option grants based on a fair value method. The fair value of each stock 
option grant was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model assuming a weighted-average 
expected life of five years, weighted-average expected volatility of 30.0% and a weighted-average risk free interest rate of 
3.43% and 2.94% for 2004 and 2003, respectively. The weighted-average fair value of options granted in 2004 and 2003 was 
$2.49 and $2.37, respectively. 

Pro forma net income includes the amortization of the fair value of stock options over the vesting period and the 
difference between the fair value and the purchase price of common shares purchased by employees under the employee 
stock purchase plan. The pro forma net income also includes a reduction in option expense due to the true-up of actual 
forfeitures. The pro forma information for the years ended December 3 1,2004 and December 3 1,2003 is as follows: 

Year Ended 
Deeember 31, 

(in thousands, except per 
share amounts) 

Reported net income (loss) from continuing operations $ (45,112) 
Stock-based compensation cost (net of tax of $2,541 and $8,347, respectively) (12,932) 

Pro forma net loss 

Reported basic and diluted loss per share 
Pro forma basic and diluted loss per share 

16. Leases 

Nasdaq leases office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases with third parties and also subleases 
office space from NASD in New York City. Certain leases contain renewal options and escalation clauses based on increases 
in property taxes and building operating costs. 
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As of December 3 1,2004, future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases (net of sublease 
income) are as follows: 

Gross Lease Sublease Net Lease 
Commitments Income- Commitments 

(in thousands) 
Year ending December 3 1 : 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
Remaining years 

Total future minimum lease payments 

Rent expense for operating leases (net of sublease income of $0.4 million in 2004) was $18.3 million, $19.4 million and 
$17.3 million for the years ended December 31,2004,2003 and 2002, respectively. 

17. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 

Comprehensive income is composed of net income and other comprehensive income, which includes the after-tax 
change in unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities, foreign currency translation adjustments and a 
minimum pension liability adjustment. 

The following table outlines the components of other comprehensive (loss) income: 

Unrealized Translation Minimum Pension Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive 

Gains (Losses)(') ~djustmend*) ~ i a b i ~ t y ( ~ )  (Loss) Income 

(in thousands) 
Balance, January 1,2002 1,239 (6,820) (1,395) (6,976) 
Net change (2,048) 6,402(4) 296 4,650 

Balance, December 3 1,2002 (809) (418) (1,099) (2,326) 
Net change 760 1,948" (296) 2,412 

Balance, December 3 1,2003 $ (49) 
Net change (920) 

Balance, December 3 1,2004 $ (969) 

(1) Primarily represents the after-tax difference between the fair value and cost (after recognition of $0.6 million and $0.7 
million in an after tax other-than-temporary loss in 2003 and 2002, respectively) of the available-for-sale securities 
portfolio. 

(2) Includes after-tax gains and losses on foreign currency translation from operations for which the functional currency is 
other than the U.S. dollar. 
Represents the after-tax adjustment to record the minimum pension liability for the SEW. 

(4) Approximately $2.4 million of foreign currency translation loss has been included in Nasdaq Japan impairment loss in 
the Consolidated Statements of Income. See "Nasdaq Japan," of Note 3, "Significant Transactions," for further 
discussion. 

(5) Approximately $1.7 million of foreign currency translation loss has been included in Net income (loss) from 

3 
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"Significant Transactions," for further discussion. 
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18. Segments 

Nasdaq manages, operates and provides its products and services in two business segments, our Market Services 
segment and our Issuer Services segment. The Market Services segment includes our transaction-based business (Nasdaq 
Market Center) and our market information services business (Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions), which are interrelated 
because the transaction-based business generates the quote and trade information that we sell to market participants and data 
vendors. The Issuer Services segment includes our securities listings business (Corporate Client Group) and our financial 
products business (Nasdaq Financial Products). The companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market represent a diverse array 
of industries. This diversity of Nasdaq-listed companies allows us to develop industry-specific and other Nasdaq indices that 
we use to develop and license financial products and associated derivatives. Because of the foregoing interrelationships, our 
management allocates resources, assesses performance and manages these businesses as two separate segments. Prior to 
2003, Nasdaq operated in one segment. 

Nasdaq evaluates the performance of its segments based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is 
pre-tax income. Results of individual businesses are presented based on Nasdaq's management accounting practices and 
Nasdaq's management structure. Certain charges are allocated to Corporate items in Nasdaq's management reports based on 
the decision that those activities should not be used to evaluate the segment's operating performance. These charges in 2003 
and 2002 primarily include all activities and exit costs related to the elimination of Nasdaq's non-core product lines and other 
initiatives as well as Nasdaq Japan. 

The following table presents certain information regarding these operating segments at December 3 1,2004,2003 and 
2002 and for each of the years then ended. 

Corporate Items 
Market Services Issuer Services and Eliminations Consolidated 

(in thousands) 
2004 
Revenues 
Cost of revenues 

Gross margin 

Depreciation and amortization 
Pre-tax (loss) income 

Assets@) 
Cash paid for property and equipment 

2003 
Revenues 
Depreciation and amortization 
Pre-tax (loss) income 
Assets(2) 
Cash paid for property and equipment 

2002 
Revenues 
Depreciation and amortization 
Pre-tax income (loss) 
Assets(2) 
Cash paid for property and equipment 
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( I )  Pre-tax loss due to a decrease in revenues. Also includes the majority of costs for regulatory services from NASDR and 
majority of technology costs due to the nature of operations of Market Services. 

(2) Includes continuing and discontinued operations for 2002. Corporate items also include the assets of Nasdaq's Treasury 
Department (primarily cash and cash equivalents and investments). 

Geographic Data 
The following table presents revenues and property and equipment, net by geographic area for 2004,2003 and 2002. 

Revenues are classified based upon the location of the customer. Property and equipment information is based on the 
physical location of the assets. 

Property and 
Equipment, 

Revenues Net 

(in thousands) 
2004: 
United States 
All other countries 

Total 

2003: 
United States 
All other countries 

Total 

2002: 
United States 
All other countries 

Total 

In 2004,2003 and 2002, no single customer accounted for 10.0% or more of Nasdaq's revenues. 

19. Commitments and Contingencies 

Brut Agreements 
Brut contracted with a subsidiary of SunGard, SunGard Financial, for SunGard Financial to provide Brut on-line 

processing, report services and related services in connection with the clearance of trades. The term of the agreement is five 
years beginning in September 2004 and is automatically renewed at yearly intervals thereafter until terminated by Brut or 
SunGard Financial. The annual service fee is $10.0 million in the first year, dropping to $8.0 million in the second year and 
$6.0 million in the third year of the agreement. The annual service fee is subject to price review in years four and five based 
market rates, but will not be less than $4.0 million per year. Some additional fees may be assessed based on services needed 
or requested. 

Brut also contracted with SunGard to host certain software on designated equipment at a SunGard facility for a 
transitional period beginning in September 2004. SunGard developed and operated the computer software programs that 
enables Brut to operate and provide order entry and execution over its ECN.Under the terms of the original agreement, 
which began in September 2004 through May 2005, Brut was obligated to pay SunGard approximately $0.1 million per 
month. On November 29,2004, an amendment was signed which extended the original agreement through June 30,2006 and 
beginning November 30,2005, Brut may cancel the agreement within 30 days written notice to SunGard. 
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Brokerage Activities 

Brut provides guarantees to securities clearinghouses and exchanges under their standard membership agreements, 
which require members to guarantee the performance of other members. If a member becomes unable to satisfy its 
obligations to the clearinghouses, other members would be required to meet its shortfalls. To mitigate these performance 
risks, the exchanges and clearinghouses often require members to post collateral as well as meet certain minimum financial 
standards. Brut's maximum potential liability under these arrangements cannot be quantified. However, Nasdaq believes that 
the potential for Brut to be required to make payments under these arrangements is unlikely. Accordingly, no contingent 
liability is recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for these arrangements. 

Nasdaq Insurance Agency 

In December 2002, Nasdaq purchased NASD's 50.0% interest in NASD Insurance Agency (subsequently renamed the 
Nasdaq Insurance Agency, LLC). Nasdaq's consideration for NASD's 50.0% interest consisted of an upfront payment of 
$0.5 million and up to $5.1 million based on NIA's stream of contingent cash flow through 2016 (which reflects an 
agreement in 2004 between Nasdaq and NASD to extend the term from 201 1 to 2016). Nasdaq will pay NASD up to: (a) 
20% of NIAYs cash flows until Nasdaq has paid NASD $2.3 million from cash flows; (b) 10% of NIA's cash flows until 
Nasdaq has paid NASD a cumulative amount of $3.0 million from cash flows; (c) 5% of NIA's cash flows until the earlier to 
occur of Nasdaq paying NASD the full cumulative amount of $5.1 million from cash flows or December 31,2016. As of 
December 31,2004, Nasdaq recorded a $0.4 million dividend to NASD for the NIA's cash flows. The dividend was reflected 
as a reduction in additional paid-in capital on Nasdaq's Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

On January 1,2005, Nasdaq purchased the remaining 50.0% interest in the NI.4 from AIG NJV, Inc. for nominal 
consideration. On December 3 1,2004, Nasdaq entered into a revolving promissory note with the NIA and loaned the agency 
$2.9 million, which is included in receivables from related parties on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 23, 
"Subsequent Events," for further discussion. 

MCI 

On January 30,2004, Nasdaq and MCI entered into a global services agreement, effective May 3 1,2004, related to the 
data network that connects Nasdaq's market facilities to market participants. The GSA terminated the prior agreement 
between the two parties. The GSA, which expires on December 3 1,2005, requires usage charges for certain GSA services to 
be at least $20.0 million during the period from June 1,2004 to December 31,2004 and $20.0 million in 2005. In 2004, 
Nasdaq met the minimum usage charges and fully expects to meet the minimum usage charges in 2005. 

Leases 

Nasdaq leases certain office space and equipment in connection with its operations. The majority of these leases contain 
escalation clauses based on increases in property taxes and building operating costs. Future minimum lease payments, net of 
sublease income of $26.1 million, at December 31,2004 were $243.1 million (including $38.9 million for equipment) over 
the life of the leases. See Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," 
Contractual Obligations and Contingent Commitments, for further discussion. 

In October 2004, Nasdaq entered into a lease agreement for technology equipment and also renegotiated related 
operating leases with a major vendor. Nasdaq also upgraded related leased equipment and entered into a 
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new three year operating lease and extended the terms of license and maintenance agreements. Under the terms of these 
leases and license and maintenance agreements, Nasdaq will pay a total of $36.2 million, over the remaining lives of the 
leases and agreements. See "2004 Cost Reductions," of Note 3, "Significant Transactions," for further discussion. 

General Litigation 

Nasdaq may be subject to claims arising out of the conduct of its business. Currently, there are certain legal proceedings 
pending against Nasdaq. Nasdaq believes, based upon the opinion of counsel, that any liabilities or settlements arising from 
these proceedings will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial position or results of operations of Nasdaq. 
Management is not aware of any unasserted claims or assessments that would have a material adverse effect on the 
consolidated financial position and results of operations of Nasdaq. 

20. Related Party Transactions 
Related party receivables and payables are the result of various transactions between Nasdaq and its affiliates. 

Receivables from related parties relate to cash disbursements and loans funded by us on behalf of our affiliates. Payables to 
related parties are comprised primarily of the regulation charge from NASDR, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NASD. NASDR 
charges Nasdaq for costs incurred related to Nasdaq market regulation and enforcement. 

Surveillance and Other Regulatory Charges from NASDR 
NASDR currently provides us with regulatory services, including the regulation of trading activity on The Nasdaq Stock 

Market and over-the-counter market and market surveillance functions of Nasdaq. NASDR charges Nasdaq for these services 
based upon NASD management's estimated percentage of costs incurred by each NASDR department that are attributable 
directly to The Nasdaq Stock Market. The following table represents the composition of costs charged by NASDR to Nasdaq: 

Year Ended December 31, 

(in thousands) 
Compensation and benefits $17,887 $19,783 $24,418 
Professional and contract services 11,932 17,364 24,038 
Occupancy 1,096 2,534 3,202 
Computer operations and data communications 3,455 2,953 4,570 
Depreciation 9,377 18,120 15,481 
General and administrative 1,841 1,092 4,999 

Total 

Regulatory charges fiom NASDR were $45.6 million, $61.8 million and $76.7 million for the years ended December 3 1, 
2004,2003 and 2002, respectively. These costs have decreased primarily due to NASD's careful review of NASDR charges 
and the allocation of these charges among the markets and members it regulates. Lower expenses in 2004 compared to 2003 
also relate to lower depreciation charges as certain technology assets were fully depreciated during the year ended December 
3 1,2003. The ongoing review of these charges and related services will continue and may result in further reductions in these 
costs in 2005 without effecting the quality of regulatory oversight. 
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Support Costs from NASD 

During 2003 and 2002, NASD provided certain administrative, corporate and infi-astructure services to Nasdaq. It was 
NASD's policy to charge these expenses and other operating costs to Nasdaq based upon usage percentages determined by 
management of NASD and Nasdaq. Additionally, NASD incurred certain costs related to the development and maintenance 
of technology for Nasdaq. Technology development costs were allocated directly to Nasdaq based upon specific projects 
requested by Nasdaq. Technology maintenance costs were allocated based upon Nasdaq's share of computer usage. The 
services provided by NASD have declined in recent years and were minimal in 2004. Support costs from NASD were $1.2 
million and $5.1 million for the years ended December 3 1,2003 and 2002, respectively. The decrease was due to continued 
progress in separating from NASD and the resulting internalization of technology and certain other support functions. The 
following table represents the composition of costs charged by NASD to Nasdaq: 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2003 2002 

(in thousands) 
Compensation and benefits $ 491 $ 1,689 
Professional and contract services 316 1,236 
Occupancy 91 877 
Computer operations and data communications 77 25 1 
Depreciation 91 344 
General and administrative 730-118 -
Total $ 1,184 $5,127 

Nasdaq Charge to Arnex 
During 2003 and 2002, Nasdaq incurred technology costs on behalf of Amex related to development of new Amex 

systems and enhancement of existing Amex systems. Amounts were charged based upon specific projects requested by 
Amex. The amounts charged from Nasdaq to Amex were minimal for the year ended December 3 1,2004. Amounts charged 
from Nasdaq to Amex are included in support costs from related parties, net and are summarized as follows: 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

(in thousands) 
Compensation and benefits $ 283 $ 509 
Professional and contract services 1,045 6,011 
General and administrative 198 347 

Total 

During 2001, Nasdaq agreed to fund a portion of the necessary expenses related to the separation of software, hardware 
and data under a plan to transition technology applications and support from Nasdaq to Amex. NASD originally integrated 
certain Nasdaq and Amex technology subsequent to the 1998 acquisition of Amex by NASD. The total estimated cost of the 
separation had been established at a maximum of $29.0 million, and was to be shared evenly between Nasdaq and NASD. In 
2002 and 2001, Nasdaq accrued $5.3 million and $9.2 million, respectively under this commitment, fulfilling its 
commitment. As of December 3 1,2003, $9.5 million had been paid to Amex. The remaining commitment was paid by the 
end of the second quarter of 2004. 
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Effective January 1,2005, Amex was sold back to its members by NASD and is no longer considered a related party of 
Nasdaq. 

21. Capital Stock 

At December 3 1,2004,300,000,000 shares of Nasdaq's common stock were authorized, 130,653,191 shares were 
issued and 78,973,085 shares were outstanding. Each share of common stock has one vote, except that our certificate of 
Incorporation limits the ability of any person to vote in excess of 5.0% of the then-outstanding voting interest of Nasdaq. This 
limitation does not apply to NASD or other persons exempted from this limitation by our board of directors prior to the time 
such person owns more than 5.0% of the then-outstanding voting interest of Nasdaq. 

In 2000, NASD implemented a separation of Nasdaq from NASD by restructuring and broadening the ownership in 
Nasdaq through a two-phase private placement of securities. In the private placements, (i) NASD sold (a) an aggregate of 
10,806,494 warrants to purchase an aggregate amount of 43,225,976 shares of outstanding common stock of Nasdaq and (b) 
4,543,591 shares of outstanding common stock and (ii) Nasdaq sold an aggregate of 28,692,543 newly-issued shares of 
common stock to investors. Securities in the private placements were offered to all NASD members, certain issuers listed on 
The Nasdaq Stock Market and certain investment companies. Each warrant issued by NASD entitles the holder to purchase 
one share in each of four one-year exercise periods. NASD is currently in the third exercise period, expiring June 28,2005, 
which the exercise price per share is $15.00. The voting rights associated with the shares of common stock underlying the 
warrants, as well as the shares of common stock purchased through the valid exercise of warrants, are governed by the voting 
trust agreement (the "Voting Trust Agreement") entered into by NASD, Nasdaq and The Bank of New York, as voting 
trustee (the "Voting Trustee"). Currently, the holders of the warrants (each, a "Warrant Holder" and, collectively, the 
"Warrant Holders") do not have any voting rights with respect to the shares of common stock underlying such warrants. Until 
exchange registration the shares of common stock underlying unexercised and unexpired warrant tranches, as well as the 
shares of common stock purchased through the exercise of warrants, will be voted by the Voting Trustee at the direction of 
NASD. The voting rights associated with the shares of common stock underlying unexercised and expired warrant tranches 
will revert to NASD. However, NASD previously indicated that commencing upon exchange registration, it will vote any 
shares of common stock that it owns (other than shares underlying then outstanding warrants) in the same proportion as the 
other stockholders of Nasdaq. Upon exchange registration, the Warrant Holders will have the right to direct the Voting 
Trustee as to the voting of the shares of common stock underlying unexercised and unexpired warrant tranches until the 
earlier of the exercise or the expiration of such warrant tranches. The shares of common stock purchased upon a valid 
exercise of a warrant tranche prior to exchange registration will be released from the Voting Trust Agreement upon exchange 
registration. The shares of common stock purchased upon a valid exercise of a warrant tranche after exchange registration 
will not be subject to the Voting Trust Agreement. On February 15,2005, NASD sold 16,586,980 shares of common stock 
underlying warrants that had expired unexercised in an underwritten public offering. See Note 23, "Subsequent Events." As a 
result, as of February 15,2005, NASD owns 26,596,416 million shares of Nasdaq's common stock, including shares of 
common stock underlying unexpired and unexercised warrants. 

As part of the Restructuring, Nasdaq repurchased a total of 52,230,433 shares of common stock from NASD during 
2001 and 2002 (the "Repurchase"). Nasdaq purchased the common stock for approximately $305.2 million in aggregate cash 
consideration, 1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq's Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock (face and liquidation value of $100 per 
share, plus any accumulated unpaid dividends) and one share of Nasdaq's Series B Preferred Stock, (face and liquidation 
value of $1.OO per share). On November 29,2004, Nasdaq entered into an exchange agreement with NASD pursuant to 
which NASD exchanged 1,338,402 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, representing all the outstanding shares of Series A 
Cumulative Preferred Stock, for 1,388,402 
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shares of newly issued Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock (face and liquidation value of $1 00 per share, plus any 
accumulated and unpaid dividends). The Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock accrues quarterly dividends at an annual rate 
of 3.0% for all periods until July 1,2006 and at an annual rate of 10.6% for periods thereafter, payable at the discretion of our 
board of directors. Holders of the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock also may be entitled to an additional payment in 
certain circumstances depending on the amount of time the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock is outstanding and the 
market price of our common stock at the time Nasdaq redeems the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock. NASD owns all of 
the outstanding shares of Series B and Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock. All of the shares of common stock repurchased 
by Nasdaq from NASD are no longer outstanding and are held in common stock in treasury. As of December 3 1,2004, there 
were 30,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized, 1,338,402 Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock and one share of Series 
B Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. 

Shares of Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock do not have voting rights, except for the right as a class to elect two new 
directors to Nasdaq's board of directors at such time as distributions on the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock are in 
arrears for four consecutive quarters. Nasdaq may redeem the shares of Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock at any time after 
exchange registration and are required to use the net proceeds fiom an offering for cash of Nasdaq's common stock by 
Nasdaq, subject to certain limited exceptions, to redeem all or a portion of the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock. 

The Series B Preferred Stock does not pay dividends. NASD, as holder of the one share of the Series B Preferred Stock, 
will be entitled to cast the number of votes that, together with all other votes that NASD is entitled to vote by virtue of 
ownership, proxies or voting trusts, enables NASD to cast one vote more than one-half of all votes entitled to be cast by 
stockholders of Nasdaq. If Nasdaq obtains Exchange Registration, the share of Series B Preferred Stock will automatically 
lose its voting rights and will be redeemed by Nasdaq. In addition to the voting rights of the common stock and Series B 
Preferred Stock, the holders of the Subordinated Notes have certain voting rights as discussed in Note 12, "Subordinated 
Notes." 

In connection with the repurchase of ownership interest of a shareholder in Nasdaq Europe Planning in 2001, Nasdaq 
issued a warrant to purchase up to an aggregate of 479,648 shares of common stock. The warrant is exercisable in four annual 
tranches ranging from $13.00 to $16.00 per share beginning June 28,2002. The issuance of the warrants has been recorded at 
fair value in stockholders' equity. As of December 3 1,2004, the warrant is still outstanding and no tranches have been 
exercised; however two of the tranches have expired unexercised. 

22. Earnings Per Common Share 

Earnings per common share is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per Share" ("SFAS 128"). Basic 
earnings per share excludes the dilutive effects of options, awards, warrants and convertible securities, and is calculated by 
dividing net income available to common stock holders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects all potentially dilutive securities. 
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share: 

Year Ended December 31, 

2004 2003 2002 

(in thousands. exceot share and 

Numerator: 
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders: 
Net income (loss) 
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 
Preferred Stock: 

Loss on exchange of securities 
Dividends declared 
Accretion of preferred stock 

Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders from 
continuing operations for basic and diluted earnings per share 

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations for basic and 
diluted earnings per share 

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders for basic and 
diluted earnings per share 

Denominator: 
Weighted average common shares for basic earnings per share 

Weighted average effect of dilutive securities: 
Warrants 
Employee stock options and awards 

Denominator for diluted earnings per share 

Basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share: 
Continuing operations 
Discontinued operations 

Total basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share 

Options to purchase 17,056,763 shares of common stock, 306,662 shares of restricted stock, 12,000,000 shares 
underlying Subordinated Notes and 239,834 shares underlying warrants were outstanding during 2004, but were not included 
in the computation of earnings per share as their inclusion would be antidilutive. 

Options to purchase 13,423,134 shares of common stock, 286,365 shares of restricted stock, 12,000,000 shares 
underlying Subordinated Notes and 359,736 shares underlying warrants were outstanding during 2003, but were not included 
in the computation of earnings per share as their inclusion would be antidilutive. 

Options to purchase 10,917,403 shares of common stock, 382,190 shares of restricted stock, 12,000,000 shares 
underlying Subordinated Notes and 479,648 shares underlying warrants were outstanding during 2002. For the year ended 
December 31,2002, 10,709,423 of the options outstanding, all of the shares of restricted stock and 119,912 of the shares 
underlying the warrants were included in the computation of diluted earnings per share, on a weighted average basis, as their 
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inclusion was dilutive. The remaining options, remaining shares underlying the warrants issued by Nasdaq and the 
12,000,000 shares underlying Subordinated Notes outstanding during 2002, were considered antidilutive and were properly 
excluded. 
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23. Subsequent Events 

Purchase of NIA 
On January 1,2005, Nasdaq purchased the remaining 50.0% interest in the Nasdaq Insurance Agency from AIG NJV, 

Inc. for nominal consideration. The purchase is not expected to have any impact on the operations of the agency. Beginning 
January 1,2005, Nasdaq will consolidate the Insurance Agency in its consolidated results. 

Common Stock Listing 
Nasdaq applied for and was granted a common stock listing on The Nasdaq National Market, and commenced trading 

on The National Market under the symbol NDAQ on February 10,2005. 

Completion of Secondary Ofering 
On February 15,2005, Nasdaq completed an underwritten secondary offering of 16,586,980 shares of common stock 

owned by NASD and an additional 3,246,536 shares of common stock owned by certain selling stockholders who purchased 
the shares in Nasdaq's private placements in 2000 and 200 1. Nasdaq, its officers or other employees did not sell any shares in 
the secondary offering and Nasdaq did not receive any proceeds from the offering. 
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Three Years Ended December 31,2004 
(in thousands) 

Reserve for Bad Debts 

Balance at beginning of period 
Additions: 

Charges to income 
Recoveries of amounts previously written-off 
Acquisition of Brut 

Deductions: 
Charges for which reserves were provided 

Balance at end of period 




